
  

 
 

South Dakota Science and Technology Authority 
 

 

 Board Meeting  
December 12, 2019 

  
 

 
 

 
 

                              
 

 
 
 
 

630 East Summit Street 
Lead, SD 57754 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 
 

  

 



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 01 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Call to Order—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Informational.   

1A. Call Roll 

Dr. Ani Aprahamian 
Mr. Dana Dykhouse 
Ms. Pat Lebrun 
Mr. Roger Musick 
Mr. Casey Peterson 
Mr. Ron Wheeler 
Dr. Bob Wilson 
Dr. James Rankin, ex-officio member 
 

1B. Introduce guests 
 
1C.  Public comment form (remind audience copies of form are located on sign-in table) 

 
Procedure for Public Comment Periods 
 
Pursuant to SDCL 1-25-1 as amended by House Bill 1172 in the 2018 Legislative Session the 
procedure for conducting public comment periods during meetings of the South Dakota Science and 
Technology Authority (SDSTA) shall be as follows: 
 
The chair of the SDSTA shall reserve a period for public comment, limited at the chair’s discretion, 
at each meeting. 
 
Before the beginning of the meeting, all persons who wish to make comments during the comment 
period shall indicate their desire to do so on a form that will be provided by the Executive Director. 
The form shall indicate the person’s name, city of residence and generally describe the matter or 
matters on which the person wishes to comment. 
 
The amount of time allocated to each interested person who wishes to make comments will be 
determined at the chair’s discretion at each meeting. 
Comments must be limited to matters which are under the jurisdiction of the SDSTA. 
 

All persons making public comments at meetings of the SDSTA must do so in a manner that maintains civility. 
Comments which contain offensive language or profanity will not be tolerated. 
 

Page 3 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 4 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 02 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Approve Agenda—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Motion to approve agenda as presented.   

Attached is the SDSTA Board agenda for the December 12, 2019 meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 6 of 106



 
AGENDA 

South Dakota Science and Technology Authority 
630 East Summit Street, Lead, South Dakota 
Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Thursday, December 12, 2019 at 9:00 AM (MT) 
**Yates Administration Bldg, 2nd Floor Vault Conference Room** 

Public (Open) Session: 1-669-900-6833, Meeting ID: 605 722 4022, https://zoom.us/join 

Please do not place or accept cell phone calls during this meeting. A copy of this agenda has been posted in a manner visible to the public at the entrance to the South Dakota 
Science and Technology Authority office located at 630 East Summit Street, Lead, South Dakota at least 72 hours prior to this meeting. Telephone: (605) 722-8650.   

SDSTA Board of Directors Meeting                                                                                            Page 1 of 3, v3 
December 12, 2019  
 

SDSTA Mission: To advance compelling underground, multidisciplinary research in a safe work environment and to inspire and educate 
through science, technology and engineering.  

 Title Report Recommendations 
1.  Call to order 

A. Call roll 
B. Introduce guests 
C. Reminder request for public 

comment form 
 

-- Chair Casey Peterson Informational 

2.  Approve agenda -- Chair Casey Peterson 
 

Motion to approve agenda 

3.  Approve minutes -- Chair Casey Peterson Motion to approve the September 19 and 
October 31, 2019 minutes 
 

4.  Conflict of interest disclosure 
 

-- Mr. Tim Engel Informational 

5.  Conflict of interest disclosure and 
waiver under SDCL CH. 3-23 

-- Mr. Tim Engel   

 
 

6.  Update on scoping study for potential 
STEM institute 
 

-- Ms. Elizabeth Freer 
 

Informational 

7.  Report from Audit Committee 
A. Audit Report-fiscal year ended 

June 30, 2019 
B. Internal Control Audit update 

 
-- Ms. Pat Lebrun 
 
-- Ms. Pat Lebrun 

Discussion 
Motion to accept Audit Committee Report 
and to discuss Audit Report approval at 
the next regularly scheduled board 
meeting per statute 
 

8.  Financial Report 
A. November financial report and 

summaries 

-- Mr. Mike Headley 
-- Ms. Nancy Geary 

 
Motion to accept financial report as 
presented 

9.  Report from Executive Director 
A. Declarations of Surplus (2) 
B. SDSTA quarterly update 
C. E&O update 

-- Mr. Mike Headley 
 
 
-- Ms. Debra Wolf 

 
Informational; see board packet 
 
Presentation 
Motion to accept executive director’s 
report 

Page 7 of 106



 
AGENDA 

South Dakota Science and Technology Authority 
630 East Summit Street, Lead, South Dakota 
Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Thursday, December 12, 2019 at 9:00 AM (MT) 
**Yates Administration Bldg, 2nd Floor Vault Conference Room** 

Public (Open) Session: 1-669-900-6833, Meeting ID: 605 722 4022, https://zoom.us/join 

Please do not place or accept cell phone calls during this meeting. A copy of this agenda has been posted in a manner visible to the public at the entrance to the South Dakota 
Science and Technology Authority office located at 630 East Summit Street, Lead, South Dakota at least 72 hours prior to this meeting. Telephone: (605) 722-8650.   

SDSTA Board of Directors Meeting                                                                                            Page 2 of 3, v3 
December 12, 2019  
 

 Title Report Recommendations 
10.  Discuss registration of lobbyists

  
-- Mr. Tim Engel Motion to designate Mike Headley, Ron 

Wheeler, Tim Engel and Doug Abraham as 
lobbyists for the SDSTA for the 2020 
Legislative Session 

11.  Executive session  
(closed meeting) 

-- Chair Casey Peterson Motion to enter executive session to 
discuss personnel matters and to consult 
with legal counsel concerning contractual 
matters 

12.  Report from executive session -- Chair Casey Peterson 
 

Motion to accept executive session report 
 

13.  Review SDSTA policies and 
procedures 
 

-- Mr. Mike Headley 
 

Motion to approve updated Inclement 
Weather and Records and Retention 
Policies, as presented 

14.  Confirm date and time of next 
meeting 
 

-- Chair Casey Peterson Thursday, March 19 at 8:00am (MT) 

15.  Public comments 
 

-- Chair Casey Peterson  

16.  Board comments 
 

-- Chair Casey Peterson  

17.  Adjourn 
 

-- Chair Casey Peterson Motion to adjourn 

Page 8 of 106



 
Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Thursday, December 12, 2019 
 

Please do not place or accept cell phone calls during this meeting. A copy of this agenda has been posted in a manner visible to the public at the entrance to the South Dakota 
Science and Technology Authority office located at 630 East Summit Street, Lead, South Dakota at least 72 hours prior to this meeting. Telephone: (605) 722-8650.   

SDSTA Board of Directors Meeting                                                                                            Page 3 of 3, v3 
December 12, 2019  
 

SDSTA Board Member Terms of Service, Committees and Schedule 

  
 Board Members and Terms of Service 

Board Members Appointed Term Expires 
1.  Dr. Ani Aprahamian Re-appointed December 10, 2015 December 9, 2021 
2.  Mr. Dana Dykhouse, Vice-Chair Re-appointed August 1, 2014 August 14, 2020 
3.  Ms. Patricia Lebrun, Secretary-

Treasurer 
Re-appointed August 5, 2016 August 8, 2022 

4.  Mr. Roger Musick Appointed September 19, 2018 August 21, 2022 
5.  Mr. Casey Peterson, Chair Re-appointed August 25, 2015 August 8, 2021 
6.  Mr. Ron Wheeler, Vice-Chair Re-appointed April 10, 2014 April 9, 2020 
7.  Dr. Robert Wilson August 24, 2015 August 8, 2021 
8.  Dr. James Rankin, ex-officio member SDSM&T President as of Jan 8, 2018 

 
 Committees and Members (2019-2020) 
 Audit Committee Members 
(Sep): tbd 

Nominating Committee Members 
(Jun): 

 

 Ø Pat Lebrun-Chair Ø Dana Dykhouse  
 Ø Dana Dykhouse Ø Roger Musick  
 Ø Casey Peterson, ex-officio   
 2019 Board Schedule 
 February 21, 2019 9:30 am (MT) Special Telephonic 
 Thursday, March 21 2019 8:00 am (MT) E&O Bldg 
 Thursday, June 20, 2019 8:00 am (MT) E&O Bldg 
 September 6, 2019 8:00 am (MT) Special Telephonic 
 Thursday, September 19, 2019 8:00 am (MT) E&O Bldg 
 October 31, 2019 1:00 pm (MT) Special Telephonic 
 Thursday, December 12, 2019 9:00 am (MT) E&O Bldg 
 2020 Board Schedule 
 Thursday, March 19 2020 8:00 am (MT) E&O Bldg 
 Thursday, June 25, 2020 8:00 am (MT), annual E&O Bldg 
 Thursday, September 17, 2020 8:00 am (MT) E&O Bldg 
 Thursday, December 17, 2020 9:00 am (MT) E&O Bldg, lunch 

 

Page 9 of 106



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 10 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 03 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Approve Minutes—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Motion to approve the September 19 and October 31, 2019 Minutes as presented.   

Attached are the following SDSTA Board Minutes: 

• September 19, 2019 quarterly meeting 
• October 31, 2019 telephonic special meeting 

Page 11 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 12 of 106



 

September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting    Page 1 of 9 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

South Dakota Science and Technology Authority Board of Directors 
Meeting Minutes 

Thursday, September 19, 2019 
Lead, South Dakota 

 
The Board of Directors of the South Dakota Science and Technology Authority (SDSTA) convened at 
8:02 AM Mountain Time (MT) on Thursday, September 19, 2019, in the Education and Outreach 
(E&O) Building Conference Room at the South Dakota Science and Technology Authority, 630 East 
Summit Street, Lead, South Dakota. 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD IN ATTENDANCE 
Vice Chairperson Dana Dykhouse (in person) 
Secretary/Treasurer Patricia Lebrun (in person) 
Mr. Roger Musick (by phone) 
Chairperson Casey Peterson (in person) 
Dr. James Rankin, ex-officio (in person) 
Vice Chairperson Ron Wheeler (in person) 
Dr. Robert Wilson (by phone) 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD ABSENT 
Dr. Ani Aprahamian 
SDSTA STAFF 
Mr. Tim Engel, Legal Counsel  
Ms. Nancy Geary, Chief Financial Officer 
Mr. Mike Headley, Executive Director 
Mr. Jaret Heise, Science Liaison Director 
Ms. Mandy Knight, Administrative Services Manager 
Mr. Charles Maupin, Mechanical Engineer 
Mr. KC Russell, Cultural Diversity Coordinator 
Mr. Allan Stratman, Director of Engineering 
Ms. Constance Walter, Communications Director 
Ms. Natasha Wheeler, Administrative Assistant 
ALSO PRESENT DURING ALL OR PART OF THE MEETING 
Ms. Elizabeth Freer, dialogue LLC Principal and Owner 
Ms. Donna Job, Sanford Lab Homestake Visitor Center Executive Director 
Mr. Alex Portal, Black Hills Pioneer Journalist 
Mr. Kevin Wagner, Deadwood Lead Economic Development Executive Director 
Mr. Joshua Willhite, Long-Baseline Neutrino Facility Far Site Conventional Facilities Project Manager  
Ms. Debra Wolf, E&O Director (BHSU) 
ITEM 1. CALL TO ORDER  
Chairperson Casey Peterson called the meeting to order at 8:02 AM (MT). Roll call was held. 
Chairperson Peterson, Mr. Dana Dykhouse, Ms. Pat Lebrun and Mr. Ron Wheeler were present in 
person. Dr. Bob Wilson and Mr. Roger Musick joined by phone. Dr. Ani Aprahamian was absent. 
Chairperson Peterson then asked audience members to introduce themselves. 

Page 13 of 106



 

September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting    Page 2 of 9 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

He said if anyone from the audience had any questions or comments for the board to address, to please 
complete the public comment form located at the sign-in table and time will be given at the end of the 
agenda to discuss.  
ITEM 2. APPROVE AGENDA 
Chairperson Peterson asked if there were any modifications to the agenda. Hearing none, Chairperson 
Peterson asked for a motion to approve the agenda. 
Motion by Mr. Wheeler and seconded by Ms. Lebrun to approve the agenda as presented. Motion 
passed unanimously. 

ITEM 3. APPROVE MINUTES 
Chairperson Peterson asked for any comments on the June 20 or September 6, 2019 Minutes. There 
were none. 
Motion by Mr. Dykhouse and seconded by Mr. Wheeler to approve the Minutes of the June 20, 2019 and 
September 6, 2019 meetings as presented. Motion passed unanimously. 
ITEM 4. GENERAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE 
SDSTA Legal Counsel Mr. Tim Engel invited members of the board to disclose anything that might be 
construed to be a conflict of interest relative to their role on the board. 

No conflicts of interest were disclosed.  
ITEM 5. DISCLOSURES AND WAIVER UNDER SDCL CH. 3-23 
Mr. Engel said in regard to disclosures and waivers under SDCL Ch. 3-23, he polled the board members 
prior to the meeting. Chairperson Peterson, whose firm has contracts with state or political subdivisions 
for services, and Mr. Wheeler, who acts as a governmental and external affairs consultant to SDSTA, 
each disclosed those interests in writing. He said the disclosures were included in the board packet. No 
other disclosures were made. Mr. Engel stated no board action is required.   
Dr. Rankin arrived at 8:06 AM. 
ITEM 6. UPDATE ON SCOPING STUDY FOR POTENTIAL SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY, 
ENGINEEING AND MATH (STEM) INSTITUTE 
Ms. Freer provided a progress update as a follow-up to her June 20 presentation to the board. Three 
institutes were finalized as destinations for site visits, including the Perimeter Institute in Waterloo, 
Ontario, Canada, which Ms. Freer visited on September 5 with Ms. Wolf, Dr. Heise, Chairperson 
Peterson, and Mr. Headley. The team met with several senior staff at the institute and gained a great deal 
of insight. The institute has a presentation hall that seats about 200 people, but the building is designed 
around spaces for collaboration and interaction. Ms. Freer shared photos from their visit, noting that a 
café is located at the entrance of the building to entice people to work on-site, art installations are 
incorporated throughout the building to spark conversation, and work spaces are designed to bring 
people together around white boards, chalk boards and espresso. 
Chairperson Peterson commented on the Perimeter Institute’s care in treating everyone well, from 
students, to post-docs, to faculty, making it easy for them to interact with each other. He also said the 
institute has a phenomenal education and outreach program, reaching audiences all over the world. 
Mr. Wheeler said his understanding of the institute’s funding model is that it uses provincial, federal and 
private funds, and Ms. Freer further explained that a third of the funding comes from each of those 
sectors. She said the institute does not change its fund requests from year to year; the amounts stay 

Page 14 of 106



 

September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting    Page 3 of 9 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

fixed, and any additional funds needed are raised by the institute. Mr. Headley added fundraising for the 
institute may serve as a good model for the Sanford Underground Research Facility Foundation 
(SURFF) because it relies on donations from backers who are passionate about the science, rather than a 
built-in constituency that a university-type institution may have to support it. 
The SDSTA team and Ms. Freer will make their next institute site visits in October and Ms. Freer will 
research CERN. All the information will be compiled into a final report and presented at the December 
board meeting. 
Ms. Lebrun said it will be important to encourage more PhD programs in South Dakota when talking to 
the legislature going forward with SURFF, because those programs will be a source of growth for 
SURFF. 

ITEM 7. REPORT FROM AUDIT COMMITTEE 
ITEM 7A. INTERNAL CONTROLS MEETING AND PREAUDIT MEETING UPDATE 
Ms. Lebrun said the internal controls audit is now moving forward. The committee met in August, 
reviewed a number of Request for Proposals and awarded the contract to CliftonLarsonAllen (CLA), a 
firm from Minneapolis, Minnesota, whose proposal estimated low cost but high quality for SDSTA’s 
needs. 
She said the pre-audit committee met on September 3 with Mr. Al Schaefer from the South Dakota 
Department of Legislative Audit, to request an audit for the previous fiscal year. Mr. Schaefer is now 
on-site with a coworker, and the audit must be complete by the end of October. The report will be 
available to the board at the December meeting. 

ITEM 7B. APPOINTMENT OF NEW AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBER 
Chairperson Peterson said he asked Mr. Dykhouse and Ms. Lebrun to continue to serve on the audit 
committee, and hearing no objections, thanked them for their continued service as audit committee 
members. 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL REPORT 
ITEM 8A. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Ms. Geary said August had quite a bit of spending for the federal contract for operations services, which 
will conclude at the end of September. She said a large number of supplies arrived in August to spend 
out the funding. Also, a number of supplies are expected in September; a no-cost extension will be 
applied for items that are expected but will not be on-site before the end of the contract. 
She said the SD Investment Council letter was received, and SDSTA had a very good year. The letter 
outlined predictions for the coming year and Ms. Geary asked what interest earning accrual percentage 
should be applied for fiscal year 2019. Mr. Wheeler suggested remaining at 1% and the board agreed. 
Motion by Mr. Wheeler and seconded by Mr. Dykhouse to approve 1% interest earning accrual as 
discussed for fiscal year 2019. Motion passed unanimously. 
ITEM 8B. FISCAL YEAR END INVENTORY LISTING 
Ms. Geary referred to the board packet for the provided inventory listing and said it included federal 
property purchased by SDSTA. She said SDSTA is working with Fermilab on a process called ”abandon 
in place”, which transfers federal property onsite at Sanford Lab but owned by DOE Fermilab. Mr. 
Headley explained the property still has value and will be tracked as inventory, but they will not be 
listed in the accounting books since the property has already been paid for with federal funds. The 
process is a transfer of property for items still being used on-site and will better align assets for the 

Page 15 of 106



 

September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting    Page 4 of 9 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

Cooperative Agreement (CA). Mr. Engel noted “abandon in place” is a common practice for the 
Department of Energy (DOE) and is more cost-effective than removing and attempting to liquidate 
assets that are currently in place and in use. 
 

ITEM 8C. END PER DIEM LISTING 
Ms. Geary referred to the board packet for information about the per diem listing and asked the board 
for questions. Hearing none, Chairperson Peterson asked for a motion to accept the financial report. 
Motion by Mr. Dykhouse and seconded by Mr. Wheeler to accept the financial report as presented. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
ITEM 9. APPROVE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT (CA) 
Mr. Headley reminded the board DOE had asked SDSTA in November 2018 to submit an application 
for a CA for the operations of Sanford Underground Research Facility (SURF). The application was 
submitted early in the year, and negotiations have been underway. He said the CA will support five 
years of day-to-day operations as well as infrastructure improvement efforts. He said the SURF 
Operations subcontract with Fermilab will end September 30 and all operations activities will be funded 
through the CA. 
Providing an update to the upcoming fiscal year, Mr. Headley said the U.S. House approved their energy 
and water appropriation, Long-Baseline Neutrino Facility/Deep Underground Neutrino Experiment 
(LBNF/DUNE) received what DOE requested and what is in the profile, and the House named SURF in 
their budget. He said if granted, the expected appropriations are $171 million for LBNF/DUNE and $20-
$35 million for SURF—funds are expected to be granted mid-to-late November 2019. 
Mr. Headley acknowledged the hard work of SDSTA, consultants and partners in formulating the CA. 
Mr. Wheeler, Chairperson Peterson and Mr. Engel echoed Mr. Headley’s comments, emphasized the 
efforts of those involved and acknowledged the CA milestone. 
Motion by Mr. Wheeler and seconded by Ms. Lebrun to authorize the Executive Director and Legal 
Counsel to finalize the terms of the Cooperative Agreement with DOE, and to authorize the Executive 
Director to sign the final agreement. Motion passed unanimously. 
ITEM 10. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) BETWEEN SDSTA AND FRA 
FOR LBNF/DUNE 
Mr. Headley said he has been working with Mr. Engel to update the MOU with Fermilab (FRA) to 
reflect the change in relationship resulting from the new CA between SDSTA and DOE. Hearing no 
questions or comments concerning the updated MOU, Chairperson Peterson asked for a motion to 
finalize the agreement. 
Motion by Mr. Dykhouse and seconded by Mr. Wheeler to authorize the Executive Director and Legal 
Counsel to negotiate the final terms of the Memorandum of Understanding between SDSTA and FRA for 
LBNF/DUNE and authorize the Executive Director to sign the MOU. Motion passed unanimously. 

ITEM 11. SANFORD UNDERGROUND RESEARCH FACILITY FOUNDATION (SURFF) 
ITEM 11A. SURFF UPDATE 
Mr. Bonde recapped the goals for establishing the foundation to include the following: renovate the 
Education and Outreach (E&O) building, create an E&O endowment, develop a STEM institute, support 

Page 16 of 106



 

September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting    Page 5 of 9 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

new and existing SURF education programs, and support special projects such as the Sanford Lab 
Homestake Visitor Center, other initiatives and operational support. 
In addition, Mr. Bonde reviewed project milestones to include the following: select the initial board 
members, file the South Dakota (SD) Articles of Incorporation in June 2019 (accepted by the State of 
SD), prepare a 501(c)(3) application, develop a director job description, and file a tax identification 
number application (accepted by the IRS) in July, create draft Bylaws, and conduct the first board 
meeting. At the SURFF board meeting, the Articles of Incorporation and initial board members were 
ratified, Bylaws and a conflict of interest policy were adopted, the Attorney in Fact was approved, the 
bank authorization resolution was adopted, and the 501(c)(3) application  form was approved to be 
signed and filed. 
Expected upcoming milestones include: in October—hire a director, recruit board members, establish a 
foundation office; in November—onboard support staff, continue board member recruitment, brand and 
continue strategic planning: in December—gather materials, identify prospects and define campaign 
objectives; in January 2020—present the public SURFF roll-out, begin a campaign design and case of 
support concepts; in February—finalize a campaign design with project costs, develop the board and 
continue to identify prospects; in March—generate a scale of giving, offer naming opportunities and 
create a case statement; in April—finalize the case statement brochure and identify feasibility study 
interviewees; in May—study schedule and begin interviews; and in June—complete study and begin 
work on the capital campaign. 
As the newly elected Chair of the SURFF board, Mr. Wheeler commented that the SURFF board will 
operate differently than the SDSTA board, as it will be designed as a fundraising board and the number 
of board members can be much larger. As the appointed Executive Director of the foundation, Mr. 
Headley said the Bylaws will allow the SURFF board to have between five and 25 members. It was also 
confirmed that the foundation is set up as supporting organization to the SDSTA as noted in the 
501(c)(3) application.   
Ms. Lebrun asked if the SURFF board will be accountable to the SDSTA board and verified the SURFF 
director will be hired by SDSTA. Mr. Headley confirmed.  
ITEM 11B. RATIFICATION OF ESTABLISHMENT OF INITIAL SURFF BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS 
Mr. Bonde explained that the initial SURFF board members will be ratified by the SDSTA Board and at 
future board members will be voted in, following an established procedure. 
Mr. Engel stated that Mr. Wheeler, Mr. Dykhouse and Chairperson Peterson of the SDSTA Board are on 
the initial SURFF board. If they recused themselves from the vote on the motion to ratify the initial 
board, there would not be a quorum available to ratify the SURFF board of directors. Accordingly, they 
are allowed to vote. He also noted doing so is consistent with the supported organization/supporting 
organization relationship between SURFF and SDSTA. 
Motion by Ms. Lebrun and seconded by Mr. Dykhouse to ratify membership of initial SURFF board of 
directors as presented. Motion passed unanimously. 

ITEM 12. REPORT FROM EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
ITEM 12A. DECLARATIONS OF SURPLUS (4) 
Mr. Headley referred to the board packet and noted four declarations of surplus: 1) steel rail that is not 
compatible with equipment onsite, 2) a thermal imaging gun that doesn’t function properly for the 

Page 17 of 106



 

September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting    Page 6 of 9 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

intended use, 3) incinolets that have been replaced with an updated waste management system and 4) 
wood guides that needed to be replaced to meet shaft specifications. 

ITEM 12B. SDSTA QUARTERLY UPDATE 
Mr. Headley reviewed the current Environment, Safety and Health (ESH) department’s safety status 
report which depicts 16 continuous months without a recordable injury. He said the impressive safety 
record has a cost savings shown by a 23% decrease in recently renewed Workers Compensation rates, 
resulting in a $60,000 savings for the year. He said recent ESH milestones and events include: a deep-
dive risk assessment for the Yates Shaft, Emergency Response Team staff onsite to provide 24/7 
availability with two personnel per shift, an SDSTA work planning and control program presentation at 
the LBNF Far Site Enterprise Assessment Review, receipt of the South Dakota State Explosives Permit 
for SDSTA’s Renewal of License, an onsite blood drive that netted twice the expected participation and 
continued updates to ESH Manual chapters. 
Mr. Headley said recent lab updates include: a continuation of strong federal funding, an expected 
signature date for the SURF Operations CA in late September, continued pre-excavation work for 
LBNF, an expected return to full-shaft travel in the Ross Shaft (500 feet-per-minute) before the end of 
the month, and an increased maximum underground headcount by early October, allowing for 144 
people underground. He said the Oro Hondo main fan variable-frequency drive installation and 
commissioning work is set to complete in October, LUX-ZEPLIN (LZ) installation continues and the 
remaining 63,637 liters of LZ xenon are scheduled to arrive before the end of 2019. Mr. Headley added 
the 60% design for the new Maintenance Support Facility is complete and deconstruction of the old 
building is almost done, the STEM institute study group completed the Perimeter Institute site visit and 
is planning a visit to the Bay Area of California in October, and the SURFF board held its inaugural 
meeting with a search now underway for a foundation director. In regard to cultural activities, the 
American Indian Science and Engineering Society (AISES) summer science program at the Cheyenne 
River Tribal School was attended, 23 schools were visited, including seven new schools, to provide 
information on E&O opportunities, and five tribal governments were visited to provide updates on lab 
progress. 
Mr. Headley noted Commissioner Brendan Carr of the Federal Communications Commission visited the 
lab on September 3. Commissioner Carr was in South Dakota to investigate improved data infrastructure 
and gained insight into how broadband is utilized at Sanford lab. 
Mr. Headley also shared a video recently created by the Communications Department and said efforts 
are being made to update the lab’s YouTube channel and diversify the ways in which information about 
the lab is being shared. 
Mr. Headley then proposed a series of board meeting dates for 2020 and Ms. Knight said she will poll 
the board to get their feedback on those dates. 
ITEM 12C. LUX-ZEPLIN (LZ) UPDATE 
SDSTA Engineer Mr. Charles Maupin presented an update for the LZ project and shared photos of the 
Time Projection Chamber (TPC) and Inner Cryostat Vessel (ICV) assembly and insertion, praising the 
assembly and insertion team for their work. He also provided updates on the progression of the 
cryogenics system, xenon system, outer detector system, and Electronics Data Acquisition and Controls 
systems, using photos to illustrate the components. The TPC/ICV transportation underground is set for 
October and full LZ startup should take place in Spring/Summer of 2020. 
Mr. Maupin also described many of the safety precautions considered throughout the design process of 
the LZ project, citing backup systems, comparison to other similar systems such as the Large 

Page 18 of 106



 

September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting    Page 7 of 9 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

Underground Xenon (LUX) experiment, and conversations with a variety of relevant parties such as 
scientists, technicians and engineers. 

The board recessed at 9:35 AM for a short break. They reconvened at 9:45 AM. 
ITEM 12D. LONG-BASELINE NEUTRINO FACILITY (LBNF) UPDATE 
LBNF CF Project Manager Mr. Joshua Willhite provided a review of the design footprint for LBNF, 
including its geographic location in relation to the Yates and Ross Shafts, and the dimensions of the 
LBNF site excavations. He also reviewed some of the contract language, such as pre-excavation work, 
or “1A,” Reliability Projects (projects paid for by LBNF but not performed by LBNF or their 
subcontractors), and Excavation, or “1B” work. 
Mr. Willhite emphasized the project’s focus on safety, and said they completed a very successful review 
by the DOE Office of Enterprise Assessment that cited major improvements to the FRA construction 
safety program and work control process since 2015. He said the reviewers also complimented FRA and 
SDSTA management and worker commitment to safety. 
Mr. Willhite provided an overview of LBNF pre-excavation work being executed by the Kiewit-Alberici 
Joint Venture (KAJV) including the tramway rehabilitation. 
Mr. Willhite said an average of approximately 82 personnel related to the LBNF project are onsite, and 
the LBNF dedicated site team consists of 11 personnel, with another construction coordinator soon to be 
added to the team. Presenting photos, Mr. Willhite highlighted the continued progress of the project. 
He said there may also be an opportunity to reduce the overall project schedule by several months by 
performing a subset of “1B” work during the “1A” phase, including the installation of blast doors, 
preparation of the 3550L for raise bore machining, and excavation of the path to the bottom of the raise 
bore at the 4850L. 
Mr. Willhite announced that advertisement of an official Request for Proposal for the excavation phase 
is planned for early October, to be awarded by mid-year, and mobilized in late 2020. 
SDSTA board member and DUNE Institute Board Chair Dr. Wilson reminded the board that DUNE is 
working in collaboration with LBNF. He said the technical design report for the experiment was 
submitted to the main international oversight committee over the summer and is a major milestone. He 
said the final comments recently came back and were very minimal, and the executive board for the 
experiment is expected to approve the technical design report. The report will define what part of the 
experiment will be managed by DOE and what part will be international. 
Dr. Wilson said an LBNF/DUNE collaboration meeting on May 18-22 will be held in Deadwood, SD, 
with approximately 250-300 attendees expected. 
Motion by Mr. Wheeler and seconded by Mr. Dykhouse to accept the executive director’s report as 
presented. Motion passed unanimously. 

ITEM 13. SDSTA POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
Mr. Headley referred to the board packet to highlight updates to the SDSTA Publication Policy, Sexual 
Harassment Investigation Policy and Telephone Reimbursement Policy. 
Motion by Ms. Lebrun and seconded by Mr. Dykhouse to approve the updated Publication Policy, 
Sexual Harassment Investigation Policy and Telephone Reimbursement Policy, as presented. Motion 
passed unanimously. 

ITEM 14. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Page 19 of 106



September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting   Page 8 of 9
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

Motion by Mr. Wheeler and seconded by Mr. Dykhouse to enter into executive session to discuss 
personnel matters and to consult with legal counsel concerning legal and contractual matters. Motion 
passed unanimously. 
The board recessed at 10:24 AM for a short break followed by executive session. They reconvened in 
open session at 11:19 AM. 
Dr. Rankin and Mr. Musick left the meeting following executive session. 

ITEM 15. REPORT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Chairperson Peterson reported that the board discussed personnel matters and consulted with legal 
counsel concerning legal and contractual matters. No action was taken. 
Motion by Mr. Wheeler and seconded by Ms. Lebrun to approve the executive session report. Motion 
passed unanimously. 

ITEM 16. CONFIRM DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
Chairperson Peterson asked if anyone had concerns with the board meeting scheduled for Thursday, 
December 12 at 9:00 AM (MT), with a catered lunch to follow. No objections were made.  
ITEM 17. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Mr. Kevin Wagner shared comments to provide an update on the last 12-18 months of work from the 
Deadwood Lead Economic Development board, addressing an affordable housing shortage in the area. 
He presented a map with proposed land area for development and said agreements are being made with 
developers, focusing on single-family affordable-housing homes, in a price range of $150,000.00-
$270,400.00. Mr. Wagner said within a 25-mile radius, 24 homes were available on the market on 
February 26, 2019, but only seven homes are on the market today, September 19, 2019, built in the last 
50 years and priced between $150,000 and $270,400. He also said there are currently zero leasable 
homes in that range. 
Mr. Wagner said developers will be challenged by the local geography, but that they are planning on 
bringing in modular homes that are set on foundations to mitigate the need for man-camps as more 
workers come into the area. He said Deadwood, for the state, currently has the most workforce living 
outside of the community at 94.6%, compared to an average of about 60% workforce not living within 
the community. 
Mr. Wagner noted he plans to attend the December board meeting and update the board on continued 
progress toward affordable housing in the area. 
ITEM 18. BOARD COMMENTS 
Mr. Wheeler reminded the board that the budget that was passed in June, includes an increase to the 
salary of the SDSTA Executive Director. Mr. Wheeler also said kudos on the safety record and thanked 
the staff. Furthermore, he extended his thanks to Chairperson Peterson for his work and support of the 
development of SURFF. 
Dr. Wilson said getting the CA in place is very impressive and, given the timescale it often takes for 
these things to come together, the CA sends a strong message about the leadership of this facility and the 
collaboration. 

Page 20 of 106



September 19, 2019 Board of Directors Meeting   Page 9 of 9
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

Mr. Dykhouse echoed Mr. Wheeler’s comments and said SDSTA has a significant safety record and is 
proud of the safety culture growth. 
Ms. Lebrun concurred with the comments already shared. She said the progress being made is 
stupendous and offered her congratulations to everyone. 
Mr. Engel had nothing to add but encouraged, “full steam ahead.” 
Chairperson Peterson said he is proud of everyone and proud of what is being accomplished. He is 
looking forward to SURFF and everything it precedes. 

ITEM 19. ADJOURN 
Chairperson Peterson called for a motion to adjourn. 
Motion by Mr. Dykhouse and seconded by Mr. Wheeler to adjourn. Motion passed unanimously. 

Meeting adjourned at 11:41 AM. 

Page 21 of 106



Page 22 of 106



October 31, 2019 Board of Directors Telephonic Special Meeting  Page 1 of 3
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 

South Dakota Science and Technology Authority Board of Directors 
Special Telephonic Meeting Minutes 

Thursday, October 31, 2019 
Lead, South Dakota 

The Board of Directors of the South Dakota Science and Technology Authority (SDSTA) convened at 
01:00 p.m. Mountain Time (MT) on Thursday, October 31, 2019, via teleconference. Listening posts for 
the public were established at the office of the SDSTA at 630 E. Summit Street, Lead, South Dakota, 
and at the Dolly-Reed Treehouse Conference Room, 226 711 East Wells Avenue, Pierre, South Dakota. 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD IN ATTENDANCE BY TELEPHONE 
Vice-Chairperson Dana Dykhouse 
Secretary/Treasurer Patricia Lebrun 
Mr. Roger Musick 
Chairperson Casey Peterson 
Dr. James Rankin, ex-officio member 
Vice-Chairperson Ron Wheeler 
Dr. Robert Wilson 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD ABSENT 
Dr. Ani Aprahamian 
SDSTA STAFF IN ATTENDANCE 
Mr. Tim Engel, Legal Counsel (by phone) 
Ms. Nancy Geary, Chief Financial Officer 
Mr. Mike Headley, Executive Director (by phone) 
Ms. Mandy Knight, Administrative Services Manager 
Ms. Constance Walter, Communications Director 
Ms. Natasha Wheeler, Administrative Assistant 
GUESTS IN ATTENDANCE 
Seth Tupper, Rapid City Journal Journalist (by phone) 

ITEM 1. CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Casey Peterson called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. (MT). Chair Peterson declared a quorum 
was present, consisting of board members Mr. Dykhouse, Ms. Lebrun, Mr. Musick, Chair Peterson, Mr. 
Wheeler and Dr. Wilson. Dr. Aprahamian was absent. 
Chair Peterson asked participants at the listening posts in Pierre and Lead to identify themselves. There 
was no response at the Pierre listening post. Ms. Geary, Ms. Knight, Ms. Walter and Ms. Wheeler were 
present at the Lead office, and SDSTA Legal Counsel Mr. Tim Engel and Executive Director Mike 
Headley joined by phone. 

ITEM 2. APPROVE AGENDA 
Chair Peterson asked for a motion to approve the agenda. 
Motion by Mr. Dykhouse and second by Ms. Lebrun to approve the agenda as presented. By roll call 
vote, the motion passed unanimously. 

Page 23 of 106



 

October 31, 2019 Board of Directors Telephonic Special Meeting  Page 2 of 3 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 
 

ITEM 3. GENERAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE 
Mr. Engel said it has been a recommendation of the Board of Internal Control that a general conflicts of 
interest disclosure be included on public board agendas. He opened the floor for any member of the 
board, who feels they have anything that might be construed to be a conflict of interest, to disclose it. 

No conflicts of interest were disclosed.  
ITEM 4. DISCUSSION OF $5M LINE OF CREDIT (LOC) WITH FIRST INTERSTATE BANK 
Mr. Headley asked the board to consider a $5,000,000.00 line of credit with First Interstate Bank, the 
bank used by SDSTA for normal day-to-day operations. He said, with the Cooperative Agreement (CA) 
in place, the Department of Energy (DOE) encouraged SDSTA to have a financial backstop to cashflow 
operations in case of delay in payment due to a government shutdown or a continuing resolution where 
funds may not yet have been received by the agency for the CA. Mr. Headley said, after having 
discussions with DOE in regard to an appropriate amount, $3,000,000.00 LOC would be the 
recommended minimum, but $5,000,000.00 would provide a cushion—a reasonable amount to keep 
operations moving forward if there was a delay in payment. He explained that interest will not be 
charged unless the account is used, and these funds will not be used unless there is a reasonable 
expectation of being paid later by DOE. He added, the DOE will approve spending that is in alignment 
with the CA, even if circumstances cause delayed payment/reimbursement for spending. 
Mr. Headley noted that board approval will not be needed to access the LOC, as long as purchased items 
are budgeted expenses, and therefore already approved by the board. If the funds were necessary for a 
non-approved budget item, the board would be asked for approval. He added, in any circumstance, if the 
LOC is used, the board will be notified through normal reporting processes. 
Ms. Geary said, unrestricted funds being held by the state would be used before using the LOC. 
Dr. Wilson asked about fees, and Mr. Headley replied costs for setting up the LOC would be eliminated 
by First Interstate Bank if SDSTA agrees to process a specified number of payables using their First 
Interstate Bank credit card, a card currently in use by SDSTA. 
Chair Peterson praised staff for addressing this issue in a timely matter, as current political tensions 
could potentially lead to a government shutdown. Dr. Wilson concurred with Chair Peterson’s 
comments. 
Mr. Engel said, the LOC has a variable interest rate, 125 basis points below the index, which is the Wall 
Street Journal prime rate. He said, the interest rate was at 3.75 percent when the LOC agreement was 
drafted, and currently the interest rate floor is 3.25 percent. Board members expressed that it is a good 
interest rate. 
Motion by Ms. Lebrun and second by Mr. Musick to approve $5,000,000.00 line of credit with First 
Interstate Bank as presented and to authorize the executive director and SDSTA board chairperson to 
sign the loan documents. By roll call vote, the motion passed unanimously. 
ITEM 5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Chairperson Peterson asked if there were any questions or comments from the public. There were none. 
ITEM 6. BOARD COMMENTS 
Chairperson Peterson asked if there were any questions or comments from the board. Dr. Wilson praised 
the foresight of securing the LOC, Mr. Wheeler said he was happy the LUX-ZEPLIN detector made it 
underground safely and he is excited to see it turned on, Ms. Lebrun said it is prudent to put the LOC in 

Page 24 of 106



 

October 31, 2019 Board of Directors Telephonic Special Meeting  Page 3 of 3 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority • 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD 57754 • (605) 722-8650 
To be approved at the December 12, 2019 board meeting 
 

place, and Mr. Headley thanked the board for approving the LOC as well as Ms. Geary for her hard 
work. Chair Peterson praised the team for looking forward. He added that he had heard Sanford Lab 
mentioned in a teleconference, illustrating that Sanford Lab is becoming more well-known and is seen as 
a leader in technology. There were no other comments from the board. 

ITEM 7. ADJOURN 
Chair Peterson reminded board members the next regularly scheduled board meeting will be held on 
Thursday, December 12 at 9:00 a.m. (MT) instead of 8:00am, and it will be a telephonic meeting. He 
then called for a motion to adjourn. 
Motion by Mr. Wheeler and second by Mr. Musick to adjourn. By roll call vote, the motion passed 
unanimously. 

Meeting adjourned at 1:13 p.m. (MT) on October 31, 2019. 

Page 25 of 106



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 26 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 04 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Conflict of Interest Disclosure—Mr. Tim Engel 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Informational.   

Page 27 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 28 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 05 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Disclosure And Waivers Under SDCL CH. 3-23—Mr. Tim Engel 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Motion to approve or deny as appropriate. 
 

 

 

Page 29 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 30 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 06 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Update on Scoping Study for Potential STEM Institute—Ms. Elizabeth Freer

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Informational.   

Page 31 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 32 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority Agenda Item: 07 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 

Report from Audit Committee—Ms. Patricia Lebrun 

Recommended Action:  
Motion to accept Audit Committee Report and to discuss Audit Report fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 
approval at the next regularly scheduled board meeting per statute. 

Attached is the Audit Committee Charter dated June 19, 2014. 

7A. Final SDSTA Audit Report-Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019, attached for discussion.

7B. Internal Controls Audit update-schedule attached.

Page 33 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 34 of 106



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 
 

AUDIT REPORT 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

State of South Dakota 
Department of Legislative Audit 

427 South Chapelle 
c/o 500 East Capitol 

Pierre, SD 57501-5070 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 35 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 
AUTHORITY OFFICIALS 

June 30, 2019 
 
 
 

Board of Directors: 
 
Casey Peterson, Chairman 
Dana Dykhouse, Vice-Chairman 
Ron Wheeler, Vice-Chairman 
Pat Lebrun, Secretary/Treasurer 
Dr. Robert Wilson, Member 
Dr. Ani Aprahamian, Member 
Robert Musick, Member 
Dr. James Rankin, Ex-Officio Member 
  
  
  
Executive Director: 
 
Michael Headley 
 
 
 
Chief Financial Officer: 
 
Nancy Geary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
Page 

 Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance  
 and other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With 

Government Auditing Standards ................................................................................................   1  
 
Schedule of Prior Audit Findings .....................................................................................................   3 
 
Schedule of Current Audit Findings ................................................................................................   3  
  
Independent Auditor’s Report .........................................................................................................   4  
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) ...........................................................................   6 
 
Basic Financial Statements: 
 
  As of June 30, 2019: 
 
 Statement of Net Position ..................................................................................................  14 
 
  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019: 
 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position .....................................  15 
 
 Statement of Cash Flows ...................................................................................................  16 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements ..................................................................................................  18 
 
Required Supplementary Information Other than MD&A: 
 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) ...........................................  31 
 
Schedule of Employer Contributions ...............................................................................................  32 
 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information ...............................................................................  33  
 
Supplementary Information: 
 
Schedule of Operating Expenses ...................................................................................................  34 
 
  
 
  
 

Page 37 of 106



 

 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 

The Honorable Kristi Noem 
Governor of South Dakota 
 
and 
 
Board of Directors 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the South Dakota 
Science and Technology Authority (Authority), a business-type activities component unit of the State of 
South Dakota, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements and have issued our 
report thereon dated October 7, 2019.     
 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the Authority’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that 
is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 

  

1
Page 38 of 106



 

 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standard. 
 

Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.  As required by South Dakota Codified Law 4-
11-11, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited. 

 
Martin L. Guindon, CPA 
Auditor General 
 
October 7, 2019 

 
  

2
Page 39 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKTOA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 
SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AND CURRENT AUDIT FINDINGS 

 
SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

 
Prior Audit Findings:  
 
The prior audit report contained no written audit findings. 
 

SCHEDULE OF CURRENT AUDIT FINDINGS 
 

Current Audit Findings: 
 
There are no written current audit findings to report. 

3
Page 40 of 106



 

 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 

The Honorable Kristi Noem 
Governor of South Dakota 
 
and 
 
Board of Directors 
South Dakota Science and Technology Authority 
 

Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the South Dakota Science and Technology 
Authority (Authority), a business-type activities component unit of the State of South Dakota, as of and for 
the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the Table of Contents.   
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
The Authority’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Authority’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

4
Page 41 of 106



 

 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Authority as of June 30, 2019, and the changes in its financial position and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.   
 

Other Matters 
 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) on pages 6-13, the Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset) on page 31, and the Schedule of Employer Contributions on page 32 be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 

Supplementary Information 
 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s financial statements.  The Schedule of Operating Expenses listed in 
the Table of Contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the 
basic financial statements.   
 
The Schedule of Operating Expenses is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, 
the Schedule of Operating Expenses is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a whole. 
  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 7, 
2019 on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters.  
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Martin L. Guindon, CPA 
Auditor General 
 
October 7, 2019 

5
Page 42 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

This section of the South Dakota Science and Technology Authority’s (SDSTA’s) annual financial report presents 

management’s discussion and analysis of the SDSTA’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended  

June 30, 2019 (FY 2019).  This analysis should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes to the 

financial statements. 

 

The SDSTA’s financial statements include the operations of funds that the SDSTA has established to achieve its 

goal of converting its acquired Homestake Mine property into an underground science and engineering laboratory.  

The property was donated to the SDSTA by Barrick Gold Corporation in May 2006.   

 

The activity of the SDSTA is accounted for as a proprietary fund type.  The SDSTA is a component unit of the State 

of South Dakota and its financial statements are included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the State 

of South Dakota. 

 

Included in the financial statements presented is a current year comparison to prior year balance sheet summary, 

revenue and expense summary, and capital assets.  Further reports reflect current year detailed statement of net 

position, statement of revenue, expense and changes in net position, cash flow, and schedule of operating expenses. 

Comparisons of current year to prior year are important to display increases and decreases in various elements of the 

financial reports for the SDSTA.  Current year detailed reports provide significant detail for statement of net 

position, revenues, expenses and cash flows for the SDSTA.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6
Page 43 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS: 

 

• Total Assets at year-end increased to $113,548,125. 

• Current Assets increased by $5,455,470, primarily due to the receipt of funds from the State of South Dakota, 

Governor’s Office of Economic Development (GOED) in the amount of $4,000,000 to be used for the design 

and construction of a new Maintenance Support Facility (MSF).  Furthermore, Accounts Receivable as of the 

June 30, 2019 statement is higher by $1,061,939 for additional open receivables on contracts.  

• Capital Assets decreased by $1,558,104 net of depreciation expense.  Page 10 details the major capital asset 

additions and deletions.  Furthermore, page 21 summarizes the changes in capital assets by major categories.  

Notable differences include changes to Improvements in Progress for the LUX/Zeplin (LZ) facility upgrades 

and the LZ water tank modifications that are complete.  Increases to Improvements in Progress include the 

beginning of the work on the new MSF.  Other increases to Capital Assets include wireless touch screens, 

network switches, forklift, utility pickup, and HVAC units for surface and underground.  Deletions include a 

video recorder and locomotive controller that are no longer operable and the sale of a shotcrete robotic system 

that is no longer necessary.  

• Net Pension Asset decreased slightly to $10,366.  The State’s retirement system is fully funded (see Note 6 – 

page 23).  The SDSTA’s total contributions to the South Dakota Retirement System (SDRS) increased slightly 

(up by $77,019) from 2018 to 2019.  This was due primarily to an increase in personnel.  GASB standards allow 

entities to use a pension measurement date up to one year prior to the entities reporting period.  Therefore, the 

SDSTA is using a June 30, 2018 pension measurement date for our fiscal year end June 30, 2019 statements. 

GOED funding of $2,000,000 received in 2017 along with loans from various South Dakota Foundations have 

enabled the SDSTA to purchase xenon to be used in the future LZ experiment.  As of June 2019, $8,164,350 of 

xenon has been purchased.  In summary, Net Pension Asset and Xenon Purchased have increased by 

$1,616,514. 

• Pension Related Deferred Outflows is also related to our retirement plan with SDRS.  The amounts recorded 

relate to our proportionate share of the differences between expected and actual experience in pension earnings 

along with the SDSTA’s pension contributions made subsequent to June 30, 2018.  The total Deferred Outflows 

of Resources equals $3,933,542.  

• Total Liabilities at year end increased to $9,181,137.  Accounts Payable is higher due to owing more for 

contractual services and materials when comparing the two time periods. Moreover, liabilities increased by 

$1,000,000 as an additional loan from the South Dakota State University Foundation for further xenon 

purchases.  The loans from South Dakota foundations are eleven-year, unsecured nonrecourse loans with 2.5% 

simple interest to be paid quarterly to the lenders.  The loans will be repaid at the end of the LZ experiment 

(estimated to be October 2026) from the sale proceeds of the xenon previously purchased.   

• Pension Related Deferred Inflows is also connected to our retirement plan with SDRS.  The recorded amount 

relates to our portion of the difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments.  Our 

portion equals $783,421. 

• Total Restricted Net Position increased to $17,824,243, primarily due to the $4,000,000 received for the new 

MSF.  However, the experiment funding set aside for xenon procurement and interest payments has decreased 

due to xenon procurements.  Likewise, the restricted net pension has also decreased. 

• Unrestricted Net Position increased by $2,353,397 to $9,139,568.  

• Total Net Position at year end increased by $2,998,485 to $107,517,109.   

• Charges for Services increased slightly to $185,534.  Revenue from Homestake increased due to an increase in 

the amount of water being treated and discharged for Homestake. 

• Operating Grants increased to $26,499,519.  The revenue received in this classification includes $21,895,103 

received from Fermi National Laboratory, $4,401,631 from Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, and 

$202,785 from the Great Plains Education Foundation and various smaller universities.   

• State Grant Revenue increased to $4,000,000 for the GOED funding to be used for the design and construction 

of a new MSF. 

• Investment Earnings increased to $773,114 compared to $36,585 in the previous year as an increase in funds 

were being held on behalf of the SDSTA by the State Investment Council.  

 

 

 

7
Page 44 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued) 

 

• Total Program Expenses for the SDSTA were $28,546,084 which represents an increase of 17.46% percent 

from the previous year.  Included in Total Program Expenses are Operating Expenses which increased by 

$5,215,387 to $28,275,423.  Of the total expenses in this category, the major expenses were personal services – 

52.8 percent, contractual services – 21.9 percent, and supplies, materials, and other operating expenses – 17.6 

percent.  Most of the increase in Operating Expenses is due to an increase in personnel as well as purchasing 

various equipment for the future Generation 2 (LZ) experiment.  

• Net Position increased by $2,998,485 for fiscal year 2019.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8
Page 45 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT ELEMENTS:

NET POSITION

Dollar Percent

2019 2018 Change Change

Current Assets 24,820,111  $     19,364,641  $         5,455,470  $   28.17%

Capital Assets 80,553,298          82,111,402              (1,558,104)      -1.90%

Net Pension Asset and Xenon Purchased 8,174,716            6,558,202                1,616,514        24.65%

Total Assets 113,548,125        108,034,245            5,513,880        5.10%

Pension Related Deferred Outflows 3,933,542            4,795,625                (862,083)         -17.98%

Long-Term Liabilities Outstanding 6,604,470            5,541,864                1,062,606        19.17%

Other Liabilities 2,576,667            1,917,640                659,027           34.37%

Total Liabilities 9,181,137            7,459,504                1,721,633        23.08%

Pension Related Deferred Inflows 783,421               851,742                   (68,321)           -8.02%

Net Position:

Net Investment in Capital Assets 80,553,298          82,111,402              (1,558,104)      -1.90%

Restricted 17,824,243          15,621,051              2,203,192        14.10%

Unrestricted 9,139,568            6,786,171                2,353,397        34.68%

Total Net Position 107,517,109  $   104,518,624  $       2,998,485  $   2.87%

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

Dollar Percent

2019 2018 Change Change

Revenues

Program Revenues:

Charges for Services 185,534  $          127,643  $              57,891  $        45.35%

Operating Grants 26,499,519          22,734,706              3,764,813        16.56%

Miscellaneous 86,402                 188,487                   (102,085)         -54.16%

State Grant Revenue 4,000,000            -                       4,000,000        100.00%

General Revenues:

Investment  Earnings 773,114               36,585                     736,529           2013.20%

Total Revenue 31,544,569         23,087,421             8,457,148       36.63%

Program Expenses:

Science and Technology Authority 28,546,084          24,303,546              4,242,538        17.46%

Total Expense 28,546,084         24,303,546             4,242,538       17.46%

Change in Net Position 2,998,485           (1,216,125)             4,214,610       -346.56%

Net Position-Beginning 104,518,624        105,734,749            (1,216,125)      -1.15%

Net Position-Ending 107,517,109  $   104,518,624  $       2,998,485  $   2.87%

By June 30, 2019, the SDSTA had invested $80,553,298 in a broad range of capital assets, including computer 

equipment, land, buildings, improvements to infrastructure and the underground, and various machinery and 

equipment.  $20,551,152 of this $80,553,298 (approximately 25% of this total value) was donated by Barrick Gold.  

This amount represents a net decrease (including additions and deductions) of $1,558,104, or 1.9 percent, over the 

last year. 

 

9
Page 46 of 106



 

 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

CAPITAL ASSETS (Net of Depreciation)

2019 2018 Change

Improvements 29,815,809  $      30,514,601  $      (698,792)  $         

Underground 17,936,956          17,936,956          -                      

Buildings 6,041,652            6,205,356            (163,704)             

Computer Equipment 100,708               124,844               (24,136)               

Equipment 5,239,727            5,688,195            (448,468)             

Construction in Progress 17,911,409          18,083,869          (172,460)             

Land 1,814,136            1,814,136            -                      

Infrastructure 1,564,237            1,614,919            (50,682)               

Furniture 20,197                 24,972                 (4,775)                 

Archive Material 70,000                 70,000                 -                      

Auto 38,467                 33,554                 4,913                   

Total Capital Assets 80,553,298  $      82,111,402  $      (1,558,104)  $      

 
This year’s major capital asset additions and deletions included: 

Purchased Capital Assets:

(3) Hitachi Projector/Lens/Wireless Touch Screens 45,436  $          

(2) Cisco Network Switches 10-Gig 16,250               

Doosan Gas Forklift (warehouse usage) 16,625               

(2) HVAC Rooftop Units (E & O Building) 26,269               

(2) Mini Split HVAC Units (4850'L Refuge Chamber) 14,287               

2002 Chevy 2500 Utility Pickup 10,000               

Equipment (Current Year Reclassifications):

LZ Water Tank Modifications 123,442             

Improvements in Progress (Current Year Reclassifications):

LZ Water Tank Modifications (123,442)          

LZ Underground Facility Upgrades (295,191)          

Improvements (Current Year Additions & Reclassifications):

LZ Underground Facility Upgrades 295,191             

Improvements in Progress (Current Year Additions):

Maintenance Support Facility 246,173             

Equipment (Current Year Deletions):

Underground Pump Room Video Recorder (5,984)              

Shotcrete Technology Robotic System (171,390)          

Locomotive Controller (4,500)               
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10
Page 47 of 106



 

 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT 

 

At the year-end, the SDSTA had $6,604,470 in other long-term obligations.  This is an increase of 19.17 percent as 

shown below. 

 

Total Total

Dollar Percentage

2019 2018 Change Change

Compensated Absences 604,470  $        541,864  $      62,606  $        11.55%

Xenon Notes Payable 6,000,000          5,000,000        1,000,000        20.00%

Total Long-Term Debt 6,604,470  $     5,541,864  $   1,062,606  $   19.17%

(1) The SDSTA is liable for the accrued vacation leave payable to all full-time employees.  In addition, the  

SDSTA is liable for a portion of the earned sick leave of employees who have been employed for seven 

consecutive years.  The $62,606 increase in compensated absences is due to an increase in the corresponding 

amount of leave accumulated and outstanding at the end of the year for employees.  Included in the increase is 

the xenon notes payable to the University of South Dakota Foundation.  Note (4) Long-Term Debt in the Notes 

to Financial Statements on page 22 details the activity for the period for compensated absences and the xenon 

note payable. 

 

ECONOMIC FACTORS 

 

• A report released from the Particle Physics Project Prioritization Panel (P5) in May 2014, outlined the 10-year 

strategic plan for high-energy physics in the United States.  The report provides strong support for science 

programs envisioned for the Sanford Underground Research Facility (SURF) including research into neutrinos 

and dark matter, both of which are being researched at Sanford Lab.  This panel formally advises both the DOE 

Office of Science and the National Science Foundation (NSF) on support for physics.  We expect this report to 

play a key role in the federal government funding process for years to come.  The SDSTA is better positioned to 

receive continued funding for Operations in the future.   

 

• The SDSTA’s Board of Directors approved a capital budget for fiscal year 2019 of $4,563,053 towards the 

xenon procurement for the LZ experiment and upgrades to surface and underground facilities for the future G2-

LZ experiment. Additional projects included the design of a new Maintenance Support Facility. Actual 

expenditures for the year totaled $2,123,327.  The LZ experiment upgrades to facilities were completed.  Actual 

expenses were lower than budgeted as not all projects are complete.  The SDSTA’s fiscal year 2020 capital 

budget provides for spending $7,189,826.  Projects include the final procurement of xenon for the LZ 

experiment, a small amount for inclinometer testing at the Sanford Lab Homestake Visitor Center, and the 

design and construction of the new Maintenance Support Facility.  Funding for xenon procurement and the 

upgrades for the LZ experiment was secured with the signing of Letter Agreement #1586 in August 2015 with 

the GOED and through separate funding from Foundations.  The total funding of $6,000,000 has been received 

from GOED as well as $6,000,000 from the Foundations.  The final $1,000,000 from the South Dakota State 

University Foundation was received in December of 2018. The SDSTA’s Board of Directors also approved a 

budget of $604,946 for fiscal year 2020 in favor of SDSTA supported activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11
Page 48 of 106



 

 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

ECONOMIC FACTORS (Continued) 

 

• The SURF Services contract with Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory (FNAL) to manage and operate the 

facility for the federal fiscal year October 2018 – September 2019 originally was budgeted at $17,992,729.  

Actual expenditures were $16,319,812 through August 31, 2019.  Actual expenditures have been lower than 

budgeted each month due to some large equipment purchases held until the final quarter of the federal fiscal 

year.  This contract only extends through Sept. 30, 2019 as we are transitioning to a five-year Cooperative 

Agreement with the Department of Energy’s (DOE) Office of Science.  Negotiations are ongoing to finalize 

before the end of September 2019.  The Ross Shaft rehabilitation project funding continues with FNAL as well 

as a contract for Ross Shaft Logistics Support.  This contract involves our support to the Long-Baseline 

Neutrino Facility (LBNF) construction efforts and the buildout of the large underground caverns at SURF for 

this experiment. 

 

• In late 2012, the DOE approved the Long Baseline Neutrino Experiment (LBNE) to proceed with preliminary 

designs to construct a large neutrino detector at SURF.  In October 2014, the United States along with 

international partners agreed that the Sanford Lab was to remain the host for the LBNE related detectors.  After 

further meetings, the LBNE collaboration officially dissolved and transferred all experiment responsibilities to a 

new collaboration referred to as the associated Deep Underground Neutrino Experiment (DUNE) consisting of 

United States and International support.  The facility to host DUNE, called the Long Baseline Neutrino Facility 

(LBNF), will send neutrinos through the earth from Fermilab in Batavia, Illinois to SURF in Lead, SD.  More 

recent developments (September 2016) involve the DOE formally approving plans for construction at SURF.  

The first step of installing LBNF systems to transport 875,000 tons of rock to the surface began in January 

2019.  Underground activities to house the neutrino detectors and related utilities is expected to begin in 2021.  

DOE Support for professional engineering management services continues into fiscal year 2020 for this LBNF 

project. 

  
• Further funding was received in fiscal year 2019 through LBNL in support of various experiments.  Included 

was support for the LZ investigations as well as a geothermal analysis project labeled SIGMA-V.  These awards 

reimbursed the SDSTA for expenses incurred in support of the various experiments for materials and supplies 

as well as a percentage of the salaries of the design team members for their project management skills essential 

to the work being performed.   Support continues in fiscal year 2020 for these same activities through LBNL. 

 

• Additional funding was received during the fiscal year from various institutions including Oak Ridge National 

Laboratory, South Dakota Schools of Mines & Technology, and Black Hills State University.  Funds were 

received at SURF to support the Majorana experiment located at the 4850-foot level Davis Campus, as well as 

various other experiments on the underground levels.  Support continues in fiscal year 2020 from these various 

universities. 

 

• A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was signed in November 2014 between the SDSTA and a 

commercial organization – Xilinx, Inc. to establish an experiment located near the Davis Campus.  Their testing 

measures failure rates and modes in electronic chips.  We are charging them for lab space, experiment access 

fees, and SURF scientific support.  This agreement will continue into fiscal year 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12
Page 49 of 106



 

 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONCLUDED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

ECONOMIC FACTORS (Continued) 

 

• A Letter Agreement dated February 24, 2014 between the SDSTA and Black Hills State University (BHSU) 

provides up to $300,000 per year for three years from the SDSTA to BHSU to administer the Sanford Science 

Education Center.  Matching funds of $150,000 per year by BHSU is documented.  An amended agreement 

dated June 6, 2017 committed an additional $275,000 toward education and outreach priorities for the period 

July 2017 – June 2018.  The agreement was amended as of June 8, 2018 for $275,000 for the period July 2018 – 

June 2019.  Furthermore, the agreement was amended as of July 30, 2019 for $660,000 for the period of July 

2019 – June 2020.  The full period of performance now extends from June 2014 through June 2020.  Funding 

for this agreement originated from a Letter Agreement #1524 between the GOED and the SDSTA.  The first 

$300,000 from the Governor's office was received in September 2014 and was extended to BHSU on a 

reimbursement schedule.  Years two and three funding of $300,000 and $250,000 were received from GOED.  

The balance of year three funding of $50,000 was received in June of 2017.  Additional support of $125,000 per 

year for four years for education programs was received from Great Plains Education Foundation.  The final 

support from Great Plains Education Foundation was received in July 2018 for fiscal year 2019 education 

program support.  The funding going forward for the Sanford Science Education Center program through 

BHSU is included in the indirect expenses of the Cooperative Agreement with the DOE Office of Science.  This 

type of funding is encouraged as Cooperative Agreements require the support of a public purpose. 

 

• The SDSTA is compliant with all legal and environmental regulations. 

 

CONTACTING THE SDSTA’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors and creditors with a 

general overview of the SDSTA’s finances and to demonstrate the SDSTA’s accountability for the money it 

receives.  If you have any questions about this report or need additional information, contact the South Dakota 

Science and Technology Authority, 630 East Summit Street, Lead, SD  57754. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13
Page 50 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2019

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash in Local Bank and Petty Cash 1,909,538  $        
Cash on Deposit with State Treasurer 15,862,441          

Accounts Receivable 4,261,671            

Interest Receivable 79,157                 

Prepaid Expenses 357,735               
Inventory of Supplies & Warehouse 2,349,569            
Total Current Assets 24,820,111          

Noncurrent Assets
Xenon Purchased (note 5) 8,164,350            
Net Pension Asset 10,366                 
Land 1,814,136            
Underground 17,936,956          
Improvements in Progress 17,911,409          
Buildings, Machinery, Equipment and Infrastructure (Net) (Note 3) 42,890,797          
Total Noncurrent Assets 88,728,014          

TOTAL ASSETS 113,548,125        

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension Related Deferred Outflows 3,933,542            

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 

Accounts Payable 1,386,450            
Accrued Wages and Benefits 585,747               
Accrued Leave, Benefits (Note 4) 604,470               
Total Current Liabilities 2,576,667            

Long-Term Liabilities

Accrued Leave, Benefits (Note 4) 604,470               
Long-Term Xenon Notes Payable 6,000,000            
Total Long-Term Liabilities 6,604,470            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,181,137            

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension Related Deferred Inflows 783,421               

NET POSITION

Invested in Capital Assets 80,553,298          
Restricted for:

Mine Closure 1,489,102            
Maintenance Support Facility 3,831,159            
Experiments 1,793,667            
Indemnification 7,500,000            
Sanford Center for Science Education 49,828                 
Pension 3,160,487            

Unrestricted Net Position 9,139,568            

TOTAL NET POSITION 107,517,109  $    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

14
Page 51 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Operating Revenue

Charges for Goods and Services 185,534  $              

Operating Grants 26,499,519             

Miscellaneous 86,402                    

Total Operating Revenue 26,771,455             

Operating Expenses

Personal Services 14,938,333             

Travel 211,100                  

Contractual Services 6,205,057               

Supplies, Materials and Other Operating Expenses 4,990,039               

Depreciation Expense 1,930,894               

Total Operating Expenses 28,275,423             

Operating Loss (1,503,968)             

Nonoperating Revenues/Expenses

State Grant Revenue 4,000,000               

Interest Revenue 773,114                  

Other Expense (270,661)                

Total Nonoperating Revenues/Expenses 4,502,453               

Change in Net Position 2,998,485               

Net Position -- Beginning of Year 104,518,624           

Net Position -- End of Year 107,517,109  $       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15
Page 52 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Other Operating Cash Receipts 273,205  $                   

Cash Receipts from Operating Grants 25,436,311                  

Cash Payments to Employees for Services (13,860,628)                 

Cash Payments to Suppliers of Goods and Services (10,932,859)                 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 916,029                       

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities:

Grant Revenue 4,000,000                    

Proceeds from Xenon Notes Payable 1,000,000                    

Xenon Purchases (1,650,450)                   

Interest/Insurance Paid on Xenon (137,873)                      

Grants & Donations Paid (60,998)                        

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities 3,150,679                    

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:

Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 3,000                           

Purchase of Capital Assets (343,979)                      

Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing Activities (340,979)                      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Interest Earnings 741,217                       

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 741,217                       

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,466,946                    

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 13,305,033                  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 17,771,979  $              

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities:

Operating Loss (1,503,968)  $               

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities:

Depreciation & Amortization Expense 1,930,894                    

Change in Assets and Liabilities:

Receivables (1,061,938)                   

Prepaid Expenses 45,080                         

Inventory of Supplies 10,524                         

Net Pension Asset 33,936                         

Decrease(Increase) in Deferred Outflow of Resources - Pension 862,083                       

Increase (Decrease) Deferred Inflow of Resources - Pension (68,321)                        

Accounts and Other Payables 417,732                       

Accrued Wages Payable 124,794                       

Accrued Leave Payable 125,213                       

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 916,029  $                   

Continued on next page

 

16
Page 53 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash in Local Bank 1,909,488  $                

Petty Cash 50                                

Cash with State Treasurer 15,862,441                  

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 17,771,979  $              

Non-Cash Capital and Related Financing Activities:

Write off of Inventory 46,756  $                     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17
Page 54 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

a. Reporting Entity 

 

The South Dakota Science and Technology Authority (SDSTA) was created and organized by Chapter 1-16H of the 

South Dakota Codified Laws.  The purposes of the SDSTA are to foster and facilitate scientific and technology 

investigation, experimentation, and development by creating a mechanism through which laboratory, experimental 

and development facilities may be acquired, developed, constructed, maintained, operated, and decommissioned.  

The initial focus of the SDSTA is to support the transfer of the Homestake Gold Mine in Lead, South Dakota for 

development by the research community to become the world’s premier Underground Science and Engineering 

Laboratory; more specifically, the Sanford Underground Research Facility (SURF).  Additional focus is maintained 

by the SDSTA for an education and outreach program detailing the progress. 

 

The SDSTA is a business type component unit of the State of South Dakota (the State).  As such, the accompanying 

financial statements are included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the State of South Dakota. 

 

b. Fund Accounting 

 

The SDSTA Fund is accounted for as an enterprise fund.  Enterprise funds are used to account for operations (a) that 

are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where the intent of the governing body 

is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a 

continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has 

decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for 

capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. 

 

c. Basis of Accounting 

 

The SDSTA Fund follows the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when they are earned, and 

expenses are recognized when they are incurred. 

 

d. Inventory of Supplies 

 

Inventory of supplies consists primarily of expendable equipment/supplies, donated and purchased, not yet in 

service.  Donated inventory of supplies are revalued at their estimated fair value on date of donation.  Purchased 

equipment values are reported at cost.  Reported cost values include ancillary charges necessary to place the asset 

into its intended location and condition for use at a later date. 

 

e. Capital Assets 

 

Capital assets include land, buildings, machinery and equipment, and all other tangible or intangible assets that are 

used in operations and that have initial useful lives extending beyond a single reporting period.  Infrastructure assets 

are long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in nature and normally can be preserved for a significantly 

greater number of years than most capital assets. 

 

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost.  Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the 

date donated.  Reported cost values include ancillary charges necessary to place the asset into its intended location 

and condition for use.  Subsequent to initial capitalization, improvements or betterments that are significant, and 

which extend the useful life of a capital asset are also capitalized. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18
Page 55 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(1)  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 

e. Capital Assets (Continued) 

 

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an expense in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 

Changes in Net Position, with net capital assets reflected in the Statement of Net Position.  Accumulated 

depreciation is reported on the Statement of Net Position. 

 

Capitalization thresholds (the dollar values above which asset acquisitions are added to the capital asset accounts), 

depreciation methods, and estimated useful lives of capital assets reported in the SDSTA’s financial statements are 

as follows: 

 

Capitalization Depreciation Estimated

Threshold Method Useful Life

Land and Land Rights All Land N/A N/A

Improvements 5,000  $              Straight-line 10-50 yrs.

Infrastructure 5,000                   Straight-line 25-50 yrs.

Buildings 5,000                   Straight-line 25-50 yrs.

Automobiles, Furniture, Machinery and Equipment 5,000                   Straight-line 5-75 yrs.  
 

f. Revenue and Expense Classifications 

 

In the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, revenues and expenses are classified in a 

manner consistent with how they are classified in the Statement of Cash Flows.  That is, transactions for which 

related cash flows are reported as capital and related financing activities, non-capital financing activities, or 

investing activities are not reported as components of operating revenue or expenses.  The Authority’s proprietary 

fund distinguishes between operating and non-operating revenues and expenses.  Operating revenues and expenses 

of the SDSTA consist of reimbursement of the costs of operations from Homestake Mining Company and other 

entities, and the costs of providing those services, including depreciation.  All other revenues and expenses are 

reported as non-operating. 

 

g. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash includes cash on hand, demand deposits, and participating interest in the State’s internal investment pool held 

by the State Treasurer.  The amount held in the State’s internal investment pool is reported at fair value.  The 

SDSTA essentially has access to the entire amount of their cash resources on demand.  Accordingly, equity in the 

cash management pool is considered to be cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash 

Flows. 

 

h. Equity Classifications 

 

Equity is classified as net position and is displayed in three components: 

 

1. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, including restricted capital assets, net of 

accumulated depreciation (if applicable) and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, 

notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvements of those 

assets. 

2. Restricted net position consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by (a) external 

groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments; or (b) law 

through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

3. Unrestricted net position all other net position that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net 

investment in capital assets.”  

 

19
Page 56 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(1)  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Concluded) 

 

i. Application of Net Position 

 

It is the SDSTA’s policy to first use restricted net position, prior to the use of unrestricted net position, when an 

expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available. 

 

j. Accrued Leave 

 

Compensated absences consist of vacation and sick leave earned.  The vacation leave is earned by full-time 

employees at the rate of 4.62 hours per pay period, increasing to 6.16 hours per pay period after 15 years of service.  

The vacation leave may accumulate only to a maximum of twice the annual accrual.  Upon retirement or resignation, 

only full-time employees with 180 days of continuous service will be paid for accumulated vacation leave. Sick 

leave is earned at the rate of 4.32 hours per pay period.  Upon termination, some employees are entitled to receive 

compensation for a portion of their sick leave balance.  Those with seven years of service or more will receive 

compensation at the rate of 25 percent of their balance up to a maximum of 480 hours.   

 

k. Pensions 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense (revenue), information about the fiduciary net position of the 
South Dakota Retirement System (SDRS) and additions to/deletions from SDRS’s fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as they are reported by SDRS.  The SDSTA’s contributions and net pension liability 
(asset) are recognized on an accrual basis of accounting.     

 

(2) Deposits and Investments 

 

Deposits 

 

The majority of the SDSTA’s cash is on deposit with the State Treasurer.  Such funds are invested through the South 

Dakota Investment Council.  Management of the State’s internal investment pool is the statutory responsibility of 

the South Dakota Investment Council (SDIC).  The investment policy and required risk disclosures for the State’s 

internal investment pool are presented in the audit report of the South Dakota Investment Council, which can be 

obtained by contacting the Department of Legislative Audit, 427 South Chapelle, c/o 500 East Capitol, Pierre, South 

Dakota 57501. 

 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the SDSTA’s deposits may not be returned to it.  

The SDSTA does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk.  None of the SDSTA’s deposits were exposed to 

custodial credit risk. 

 

Investments 

 

In general, SDCL 1-16H-18 permits funds to be invested in (a) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of 

the interest on which are fully guaranteed or insured by, the United States of America; or (b) obligations of any 

solvent insurance company or other corporation or business entity if rated in the two highest classifications 

established by a standard rating service or insurance companies or a nationally recognized rating agency; or (c) short 

term discount obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association; or (d) obligations of any state of the United 

States or any political subdivision, public instrumentality, or public authority of any state of the United States, which 

obligations are not callable before the principal is to be paid, are fully secured as to both sufficiency and timely 

payment by, and payable solely from, obligations described in (a).  The SDSTA did not have any investments as of 

June 30, 2019. 

 

 

 

 

20
Page 57 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(3) Changes in Capital Assets 

 

A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2019 is as follows: 

 

Balance Balance

June 30, 2018 Reclassified* Increases Decreases June 30, 2019

Business-Type Activities:

Capital Assets, not Being

Depreciated:

Land 1,814,136  $            -$                 -$                 -$                 1,814,136  $          

Underground 17,936,956               -                   -                   -                   17,936,956             

Archive Materials 70,000                      -                   -                   -                   70,000                    

Construction Work in

Progress (Note 8) 18,083,869               (418,633)          246,173           -                   17,911,409             

Total Capital Assets, not

Being Depreciated 37,904,961               (418,633)          246,173           -                   37,732,501             

Capital Assets, Being

Depreciated:

Automobiles 108,962                    -                   10,000             -                   118,962                  

Buildings 8,120,617                 -                   -                   -                   8,120,617               

Furniture 74,212                      -                   -                   -                   74,212                    

Computer Equipment 431,565                    16,250             447,815                  

Improvements 37,513,267               295,191            37,808,458             

Infrastructure 1,958,862                 -                   -                   1,958,862               

Machinery and Equipment 10,594,964               123,442            102,617           181,874            10,639,149             

Total Capital Assets, Being

Depreciated 58,802,449               418,633            128,867           181,874            59,168,075             

Total Capital Assets, Before

Depreciation 96,707,410               -                   375,040           181,874            96,900,576             

Less Accumlated Depreciation:

Automobiles 75,408                      -                   5,087               80,495                    

Buildings 1,915,261                 -                   163,704           -                   2,078,965               

Computer Equipment 306,721                    40,386             347,107                  

Furniture 49,240                      -                   4,775               54,015                    

Improvements 6,998,666                 -                   993,983           7,992,649               

Infrastructure 343,943                    -                   50,682             394,625                  

Machinery and Equipment 4,906,769                 672,277           179,624            5,399,422               

Total Accumlated Depreciation 14,596,008               -                   1,930,894        179,624            16,347,278             

Capital Assets, Net 82,111,402  $          -$                 (1,555,854)  $   2,250  $            80,553,298  $        

*Reclassifications are due to the SDSTA performing analysis of assets that were previously grouped in construction 

work in progress costs.  Various items were transferred to improvements, and machinery and equipment as they 

were placed into service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21
Page 58 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

  

(4) Long-Term Debt 

 

A summary of changes in long-term debt follows: 

 

Beginning Ending Due Within

Balance Additions Deletions Balance One Year

Accrued Compensated Absences 1,083,728$    681,714$       556,502$       1,208,940$    604,470$       

Xenon Notes Payable 5,000,000      1,000,000      -                 6,000,000      -                 

6,083,728$    1,681,714$    556,502$       7,208,940$    604,470$       

Xenon Notes Payable

Loan Agreements with S.D. Community Foundation (SDCF), S.D. State University Foundation (SDSUF), 

and University of S.D. Foundation (USDF) to purchase xenon. 

Repayment of Xenon Notes Payable

Each Foundation's share of the xenon shall be sold at a time such that the loans will be paid by the 

maturity date provided by the loan documents.  Furthermore, if the SDSTA sells the xenon for more

than the cost to purchase it, the Foundations shall be paid the full principal amount payable plus 

an amount equal to the Average Return times the number of liters of xenon purchased using Foundation Funds.  

The "Average Return" means the total price received for the sale of all xenon owned by SDSTA within the 

Project minus the amount paid to all Foundations providing funding, with the difference then divided by the 

total number of liters sold.  Furthermore, if the SDSTA fails to pay any payment required on or before the due 

date, the Foundations may declare the entire remaining balance immediately due and payable.

6,000,000$    

The annual requirements to amortize long-term debt outstanding as of June 30, 2019, are as follows:

Interest Principal Interest Principal

2020 150,000$       -$               150,000$       -$               

2021 150,000         -                 150,000         -                 

2022 150,000         -                 150,000         -                 

2023 150,000         -                 150,000         -                 

2024 150,000         150,000         

2025-2027 362,500         6,000,000      362,500         6,000,000      

Total 1,112,500$    6,000,000$    1,112,500$    6,000,000$    

Xenon Notes Payable

The loans are 11 year, unsecured non recourse loans with 2.5% simple interest paid quarterly.  The 

SDCF note is due on October 1, 2026.  The SDSUF and USDF notes are due December 1, 2026.  

Also see Note 8.

Totals

(5) Xenon Purchased 

 

Xenon purchased is valued at a cost per liter with additional freight, customs, and analysis charges.  Total xenon 

purchased to date is $8,164,350 as shown by the detail below. 

Fiscal Year # of Liters Total Cost Average Cost/Liter

2014 20,000 332,855$                     $                      16.64/liter

2016 200,000 1,273,808                      6.37/liter

2017 600,295 3,433,693                      5.72/liter

2018 260,000 1,473,544                      5.67/liter

2019 300,000 1,650,450                     5.50/liter

Total Purchased 1,380,295 8,164,350$                   $                        5.91/liter

 

22
Page 59 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

  

(6) Retirement/Pension Plan 

 
Plan Information:   

All employees, working more than 20 hours per week during the year, participate in the South Dakota Retirement 

System (SDRS), a cost sharing, multiple employer defined benefit pension plan administered by SDRS to provide 

retirement benefits for employees of the State of South Dakota and its political subdivisions.  The SDRS provides 

retirement, disability, and survivors’ benefits.  The right to receive retirement benefits vests after three years of 

credited service.  Authority for establishing, administering and amending plan provisions are found in SDCL 3-12.  

The SDRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 

information. That report may be obtained at http://www.sdrs.sd.gov/publications/ or by writing to the SDRS, P.O. 

Box 1098, Pierre, SD  57501-1098 or by calling (605) 773-3731. 
 

Benefits Provided:   
SDRS has three different classes of employees, Class A general members, class B public safety and judicial 
members, and Class C Cement Plant Retirement Fund members. 
 
Members that were hired before July 1, 2017 are Foundation members.  Class A Foundation members and Class B 
Foundation members who retire after age 65 with three years of contributory service are entitled to an unreduced 
annual retirement benefit.  An unreduced annual retirement benefit is also available after age 55 for Class A 
Foundation members where the sum of age and credited service is equal to or greater than 85 or after age 55 for 
Class B Foundation judicial members where the sum of age and credited service is equal to or greater than 80.  Class 
B Foundation public safety members can retire with an unreduced annual retirement benefit after age 55 with three 
years of contributory service.  An unreduced annual retirement benefit is also available after age 45 for Class B 
Foundation public safety members where the sum of age and credited service is equal to or greater than 75.  All 
Foundation retirement benefits that do not meet the above criteria may be payable at a reduced level. 
 
Members that were hired on/after July 1, 2017, are Generational members.  Class A Generational members and 
Class B Generational judicial members who retire after age 67 with three years of contributory service are entitled to 
an unreduced annual retirement benefit.  Blass B Generational public safety members can retire with an unreduced 
annual retirement benefit after age 57 with three years of contributory service.  At retirement, married Generational 
members may elect a single-life benefit, a 60 percent joint and survivor benefit, or a 100 percent joint and survivor 
benefit.  All Generational retirement benefits that do not meet the above criteria may be payable at a reduced level.  
Generational members will also have a variable retirement account (VRA) established, in which they will receive up 
to 1.5 percent of compensation funded by part of the employer contribution.  VRA’s will receive investment 
earnings based on investment returns. 
 
Legislation enacted in 2017 established the current COLA process.  At each valuation date:  
 

• Baseline actuarial accrued liabilities will be calculated assuming the COLA is equal to the long-term 
     inflation assumption of 2.25%. 
• If the fair value of assets is greater or equal to the baseline actuarial accrued liabilities, the COLA will be: 

▪ The increase in the 3rd quarter CPI-W, no less than 0.5% and no greater than 3.5%. 
• If the fair value of assets is less than the baseline actuarial accrued liabilities, the COLA will be: 

▪ The increase in the 3rd quarter CPI-W, no less than 0.5% and no greater than a 
restricted maximum such that, that if the restricted maximum is assumed for future 
COLA’s, the fair value of assets will be greater or equal to the accrued liabilities. 

 
All benefits except those depending on the Member’s Accumulated Contributions are annually increased by the 
Cost-of-Living Adjustment.        

         
Contributions:   

Per SDCL3-12, contribution requirements of the active employees and the participating employers are established 

and may be amended by the SDRS Board.  Covered employees are required by state statute to contribute the 

following percentages of their salary to the plan; Class A Members 6.0% of salary; Class B Judicial Members, 9.0% 

of salary; and Class B Public Safety Members, 8.0% of salary.  State Statute also requires the employer to contribute 

an amount equal to the employee’s contribution.  The SDSTA’s share of contributions to the SDRS for the fiscal  

 

23
Page 60 of 106

http://www.sdrs.sd.gov/publications/
http://www.sdrs.sd.gov/publications/


 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(6) Retirement/Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

years ended June 30, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $631,417, $554,398, and $595,112, respectively, equal to the 

required contributions each year. 

 

Pension Liabilities (Assets), Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 

Inflows of Resources to Pensions:   

At June 30, 2018, SDRS is 100.02% funded and accordingly has a net pension asset.  The proportionate share of the 

components of the net pension asset of the South Dakota Retirement System for the SDSTA as of the measurement 

period ending June 30, 2018 and reported by the SDSTA as of June 30, 2019 are as follows: 

   

Proportionate share of pension liability  $     54,372,916 

    

Less Proportionate share of net pension restricted    

for pension benefits     54,383,282     

    

     Proportionate share of net pension liability (asset)  $       (10,366) 

    

At June 30, 2019, the SDSTA reported a liability (asset) of $ (10,366) for its proportionate share of the net pension 

liability (asset).  The net pension liability (asset) was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability 

(asset) used to calculate the net pension asset was based on a projection of the SDSTA’s share of contributions to the 

pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating entities.  At June 30, 2018, the SDSTA’s proportion 

was .44446330% which is a decrease of .0437029% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2017.  

        

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the SDSTA recognized pension expense of $827,698.  At June 30, 2019, the 

SDSTA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the 

following sources: 

 

  Deferred Outflows 

Of Resources 

 Deferred Inflows 

Of Resources 

     

Difference between expected and actual         

experience 

  

$                391,793 

  

$                        -0- 

     

Changes in assumption       2,631,724            -0- 

     

Net Difference between projected and actual   

earnings on pension plan investments 

  

     

  

         783,421 

     

Changes in proportion and difference between 

SDSTA contributions and proportionate share of 

contributions 

  

 

        278,608 

  

 

          -0- 

     

SDSTA contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 

  

        631,417 

  

          -0- 

     

     TOTAL  $             3,933,542  $                783,421 

     
 
   
 
      
 
 

24
Page 61 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(6) Retirement/Pension Plan (Continued) 

 
$631,417 reported as deferred outflow of resources related to pensions resulting from the SDSTA’s contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending  
June 30, 2020.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized in pension expense (revenue) as follows: 
    

Year Ended June 30:   

   
2020    $     1,512,041 
2021    1,135,161  
2022       (63,114) 
2023       (65,384) 

   
TOTAL  $     2,518,704 

   

Actuarial Assumptions: 

The total pension liability (asset) in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation was determined using the following  

actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

  

Inflation   2.25 % 

Salary Increases  Graded by years of service, from 6.50% at entry to 3.00% after 25 years of service 

Discount Rate  6.50% net of plan investment expense 

        

Mortality rates were based on 97% of the RP-2014 Mortality Table, projected generationally with Scale MP-2016, 

white collar rates for females and total dataset rates for males.  Mortality rates for disabled members were based on 

the RP-2014 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table, projected generationally with Scale MP-2016. 

 

A detailed experience analysis covering the period from June 30, 2011 to June 30, 2016, was conducted and 

appropriate modifications in the economic and demographic assumptions were made effective with the June 30, 

2017 actuarial valuation. 

 

Investment portfolio management is the statutory responsibility of the South Dakota Investment Council (SDIC), 

which may utilize the services of external money managers for management of a portion of the portfolio.  SDIC is 

governed by the Prudent Man Rule (i.e., the council should use the same degree of care as a prudent man).  Current 

SDIC investment policies dictate limits on the percentage of assets invested in various types of vehicles (equities, 

fixed income securities, real estate, cash, private equity, etc.).  The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 

investments was determined using a method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 

(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  

These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future real 

rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  Best estimates of real rates 

of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2017 (see the 

discussion of the pension plan’s investment policy) are summarized in the following table using geometric means:  

 

 

Asset Class 

 Target 

Allocation 

 Long-Term Expected 

Real Rate of Return 

     

Global Equity  58.0%               4.8% 

Fixed Income  30.0%               1.8% 

Real Estate  10.0%               4.6% 

Cash    2.0%               0.7% 

     

Total  100%   

     

 

25
Page 62 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(6)  Retirement/Pension Plan (Concluded) 

 

Discount Rate: 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability (asset) was 6.50%.  The projection of cash flows used to 

determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate 

and that matching employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the member rate.  Based on these 

assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all future benefit 

payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 

was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability (asset). 

  

Sensitivity of (liability) to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the SDSTA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated using the  

discount rate of 6.50% as well as what the SDSTA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) would 

be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (5.50%) or 1-percentage point higher 

(7.50%) than the current rate: 

 

   

1% 

Decrease 

 Current 

Discount 

Rate 

  

1% 

Increase 

       

SDSTA’s proportionate share of the net 

pension liability (asset) 

  

  $       7,829,171 

  

$          (10,366) 

  

$      (6,387,404) 

        

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: 

Detailed information about the plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued SDRS financial  

report.   

 

(7)  Risk Management 

 

The SDSTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 

and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  There were no insurance claims exceeding insurance 

coverage during the past three years.  During the period ended June 30, 2019, the SDSTA managed its risks as 

follows: 

 

Building Structure Charges: 

 

The buildings and permanent structures owned by the SDSTA are not covered by commercial insurance. 

 

Personal Property Insurance: 

 

The SDSTA purchases insurance for the contents of the administration building from a commercial insurance 

carrier, however, the contents of the SDSTA’s other buildings are not insured. 

 

Employee Health Insurance: 

 

The SDSTA purchases health insurance for its employees from a commercial insurance carrier.  Settled claims 

resulting from these risks have not exceeded the liability coverage during the past three years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26
Page 63 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(7)  Risk Management (Continued) 

 

Liability Insurance: 

 

The SDSTA purchases liability insurance for risks related to torts, theft or damage of property, errors and omissions 

of public officials, employee practices liability coverage, and professional engineers’ coverage through its 

participation in the South Dakota Authority Captive Insurance Company, a component unit of the State of South 

Dakota.  Additional liability coverage including auto liability coverage and environmental liability is purchased 

from commercial insurance carriers.  Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded the liability 

coverage during the past three years. 

 

Worker’s Compensation: 

 

For the policy renewal date of December 1, 2019 through December 1, 2020, the SDSTA continued to purchase 

workmen’s compensation through a commercial insurance carrier.  Settled claims resulting from these risks have not 

exceeded the liability coverage during the past three years.   

 

Unemployment Benefits: 

 

The SDSTA provides coverage for unemployment benefits by paying into the Unemployment Compensation Fund 

established by state law and managed by the State of South Dakota. 

 

(8)  Significant Commitments, Contracts, and Subsequent Events 

  

On December 23, 2009, the SDSTA received $20,000,000 designated as Sanford Gift No.2.  Gift No.2 was 

originally established for the Sanford Center for Science Education.  Two amendments to the Homestake Gift 

Agreement were signed in June 2010 and October 2011, respectively, whereby it was agreed to use $15 million of 

this $20 million for infrastructure and safety upgrades at the Underground Davis Campus and for replacing steel and 

other rehabilitation of the Ross Shaft.  In early August 2012, the SDSTA signed a third amendment to the Gift 

Agreement and received the remaining $15 million of Gift No.2 called for by Section 2 of the Gift Agreement.  The 

Gift No.2 balance of $20 million was to be held in a restricted fund whereby the principal was not to be expended 

until a written approval of a business and operational plan for the Sanford Center for Science Education was 

received from Mr. Sanford.   Furthermore, the third amendment allowed the SDSTA to utilize and expend interest 

and other earnings on Gift No.2 restricted funds.  In May, 2013, the SDSTA signed a fourth amendment to the Gift 

Agreement whereby it was agreed to expend up to $7,000,000 of Gift No.2 for the construction or remodeling of the 

Yates Dry Building (located at SURF), the remodeling or replacement of the Lead Homestake Visitor’s Center and 

the remodeling of Jonas Hall (located on the campus of Black Hills State University in Spearfish, SD).  This 

authorization was conditioned on the SDSTA raising $1.5 million from other sources for the Black Hills State 

University project and $1 million for the Sanford Lab Homestake Visitor’s Center (SLHVC) in Lead.  The SDSTA 

secured a $2 million Future Fund grant from the State of South Dakota in October 2013 and an additional $500,000 

was received in July 2014 from Great Plains Education Foundation that satisfied this monetary obligation.  Both 

outside facilities agreed in writing to incorporate and use the name “Sanford” in the naming of the facilities.  

Operating agreements are in place which reasonably provide for the ongoing operations of the respective facilities 

by the Homestake Visitor Center, Inc. and Black Hills State University.  Given the construction budget of the 

SLHVC and the Jonas Science Building renovation costs, it was not possible to undertake the upgrades to the Yates 

Dry.  These details were reported in the Fifth Amendment to the Homestake Gift Agreement in February 2015.  

Furthermore, any part of Gift No.2 not used for the three construction projects may be used for the construction and 

operation of additional underground laboratory space at SURF to accommodate other experiments, and for related 

infrastructure to access or support the new laboratory space through the shafts.  After the above projects were 

finished approximately $1,000,000 remained.  On June 23, 2016 the sixth amendment was signed allowing the 

SDSTA to use the remaining funds to purchase real estate known as “Ellison Hill” and to conduct needed 

environmental assessments and remediation of the property.  This will provide needed storage and construction 

material laydown space for the LBNF and DUNE projects.  The “Ellison Hill” property was purchased in May 2017.   

 

 

27
Page 64 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(8)  Significant Commitments, Contracts, and Subsequent Events (Continued) 

 

The cost of this remediation was shared equally by the SDSTA and Homestake Mining Company per the purchase 

agreement.  With additional change orders, the contract amount was decreased to $302,319.  Remediation of the 

property was completed in November 2017.  At fiscal year end, a balance of $49,828 remained as Gift No. 2 funds.  

This will be used for operations and support for the underground laboratory space at SURF and updating of displays 

at the Sanford Lab Homestake Visitor Center. 

 

In February 2010, the SDSTA entered into a contract with AmWest, Inc. – Hydro Resources in the amount of 

$1,540,000 for the installation and maintenance of a deep level pump system.  Subsequent change orders increased 

the contract amount to $1,782,500 and extended the date through December 31, 2011.  Another change order signed 

in May 2012 increased the contract amount to $4,482,500 with a period of performance through December 31, 2017.  

The leased pump system is designed to dewater the mine from approximately the 5000’ level to approximately the 

7800’ level.  With the current vision of the DOE to not develop science laboratories past the 4850’ level, the scope 

of this contract has been revised.  Further negotiations with AmWest, Inc. resulted in the signing of another 

addendum to the contract effective January 1, 2013.  This addendum reduced the monthly lease charges by $2,500 

per month for the years of 2013 to the end of the lease.  The lease expired on December 31, 2017, at which time the 

leased property became the property of the lessee without any additional payment per the contract.  It became the 

property of the Federal Government as these capital asset-type costs are being charged direct to the subcontract with 

FRA. An additional contract was entered into with Hydro Resources for the purchase and installation of a 

replacement deep level pump system for the future when the current pump needs replacement.  This contract has a 

current cost of $158,053 extending to December 17, 2020.  A new pump, motor, and pump column have been 

purchased. The pump and motor are being stored at Hydro Resources until the current pump needs replacement.  

 

A contract was signed in early January 2014 with the South Dakota School of Mines and Technology (SDSM&T) to 

be the lead institution for the accelerator project known as (CASPAR) Compact Acceleration System Performing 

Astrophysical Research.  With an additional change the contract total was $999,334 which was finalized in 

November 2017.  This project is located at the Ross Campus laboratory at the 4850' Level.  Another underground 

facility was completed as a laboratory for Black Hills State University to support low background counting 

activities, biology study workstations, and other future small-scale experiments.  Contracts have been signed with 

both institutions whereby each will pay the SDSTA for reasonable energy costs and any other specific needed 

supplies.   

      

The SDSTA’s long-term cooperative agreement with Homestake Mining Company of California continues.  The 

SDSTA agrees to combine Homestake’s wastewater from Grizzly Gulch with the mine wastewater, as well as treat, 

and discharge the water.  For the first year of this agreement, Homestake agreed to pay the SDSTA an amount 

ranging from $.58 to $.84 per 1000 gallons based on average total gallons treated per minute per month.  Revenue 

from this agreement for the past two years was $119,181 and $173,422 respectively.  Revenue was higher 

this last year due to the number of gallons treated being higher. This negotiated treatment price will be renegotiated 

once per year for the length of the contract.  The negotiated price was renewed for the current year.  Estimated 

revenues for the upcoming year are at $125,000.  The term of the contract runs to September 30, 2020.   

 

A lease between the SDSTA and DOE for land (above ground) and space (underground) for the LBNF was signed 

on March 29, 2016.  The term of the lease goes through April 30, 2036 but shall remain in force thereafter from year 

to year without further notice but shall in no event extend beyond a total of 65 years.  Additional amendments to this 

lease executed in June 2017 and May 2018 (Amendment #1 and Amendment #2) added additional space in the Ross 

Dry Facility in support of the Long Baseline Neutrino Facility.  An easement was signed with Homestake Mining 

Company for the construction and maintenance of conveyor facilities for the transportation of excavated rock to the 

Open Cut (open mine pit) owned by Homestake.  The LBNF will include a large experimental facility underground 

at the 4850’L.  Waste rock excavated from that level will be deposited into the Open Cut.  An additional easement 

was negotiated with the City of Lead across their property to construct, maintain, and operate this overhead 

conveyance system. 

 

 

 

28
Page 65 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(8)  Significant Commitments, Contracts, and Subsequent Events (Continued) 

 

Homestake Mining Company agreed with the signing of the Third Amendment to the Property Donation Agreement 

in August 2015 to release $2,500,000 from the Indemnification Fund for the SDSTA to fund the captive insurance 

company.  The original appropriation for the indemnification fund found at 2004 SD Session Laws, Chapter 14, 

Section 1 was revised by the State Legislature per Legislative Session 2015 HB 1186, to allow the use of up to 

$2,500,000 to provide initial capital and pay expenses for the SDSTA’s purposes in the captive insurance company.     

 

Letter Agreement #1586 was signed in August 2015 between the GOED and the SDSTA whereby the State is 

granting up to $6,000,000 between July 14, 2015 and September 30, 2018.  The State has chosen to engage in a 

partnership with the SDSTA, the South Dakota Community Foundation, the South Dakota State University 

Foundation, and the University of South Dakota Foundation to assist with the costs of infrastructure/laboratory 

upgrades, procurement of xenon for future “Dark Matter” experiments, and interest payments to these foundations.  

The full $6,000,000 has been received from the State as well as $2,000,000 each from the South Dakota Community 

Foundation, the University of South Dakota Foundation, and the South Dakota State University Foundation.  Loan 

agreements are in place between the SDSTA and the three foundations for a total of $6,000,000 to be used for the 

purchase of xenon for the future LZ experiment.  The loans extend to the last quarter of 2026.  They are unsecured 

nonrecourse loans with 2.5% simple interest to be paid quarterly to each lender.  The loans will be repaid at the end 

of the LZ experiment (approximately October 2026) from the sale proceeds of the xenon previously purchased. A 

purchase order for xenon is still open for an additional 140,000 liters at a total price of $770,000 with Praxair 

Distribution. 

 

Letter Agreement #1640 was signed in October 2019 between the GOED and the SDSTA.  The SDSTA received 

$4,000,000 to design, build, and maintain a new Maintenance Support Facility (MSF).  The current facilities are 

dated, requiring substantial upgrades.  Therefore, the State of South Dakota provided funding to assist in the 

construction of a new MSF.  This is appropriate to accomplish the SDSTA’s present and future requirements.  

Additionally, GOED Letter Agreement #1659 was signed in June 2019 for an additional $2,500,000 to assist in the 

construction of the new facility.  This was necessary to ensure that it will be completed on schedule. 

 

(9)  Construction Work in Process   

 

The SDSTA accumulates the costs of construction projects in Construction Work in Progress until the projects are 

completed and/or placed in service. Some of the ongoing improvement projects are capitalized as they progress.  

The $17,911,409 of construction work in progress at June 30, 2019, consisted of $17,665,235 of accumulated costs 

for the Ross Shaft rehabilitation project and $246,173 for the MSF.  The costs accumulated consist of amounts under 

contract in addition to materials and other expenses purchased by the SDSTA.  The remaining commitment on 

existing contracts at June 30, 2019 is $856,237 for the demolition, design, and asbestos remediation of the MSF.  An 

additional contract will be negotiated in fiscal year 2020 for the actual construction project.  Funds from GOED 

Letter Agreement #1640 and #1659 will be used for this effort.   

 

(10)  Continuing Operations  

 

The SDSTA is transitioning to a five-year Cooperative Agreement with the DOE’s Office of Science – Integrated 

Support Center.  This will fund the SDSTA’s operations of the SURF.  The federal fiscal year 2020 budget totals 

$21,750,000.  The five-year total equals $120,605,674 to support the facility including critical upgrades.  

Additionally, the SDSTA has proposed for fiscal year 2020 approximately $4M of infrastructure improvements that 

will awarded separately.  The Ross Shaft rehabilitation project funding continues with FNAL as well as the contract 

for Ross Shaft Logistics Support.  Additionally, SDSTA support for the LZ experiment engineering support and 

installation efforts has been extended to September 2020.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

29
Page 66 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 

(11) Related Party Transactions 

 

Mr. Ron Wheeler was appointed to the Board of Directors by the Governor effective July 1, 2013 and is a current 

member of the Board of Directors.  As of July 1, 2013, Ron Wheeler transitioned from Executive Director to the 

Director of Governmental & External Affairs for the SDSTA.  Mr. Wheeler was a full-time employee of the SDSTA 

until January 3, 2014, at which time he retired from full-time employment.  Effective January 3, 2014, the SDSTA 

signed a contract with Mr. Wheeler as a consultant for the SDSTA.  The contract, including amendments, is for 

$539,000 and extends to January 15, 2022.  For the period of July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019, he was paid $61,676 for 

his consulting services.  Mr. Wheeler will assist in directing the state and federal government affairs programs for 

the SDSTA. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30
Page 67 of 106



 

 

                               REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION OTHER THAN MD&A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68 of 106



 

 

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

SDSTA's proportion of the

net pension liability (asset) 0.4444633% 0.4881662% 0.5027360% 0.5089089% 0.5287996%

SDSTA's proportionate 

share of net pension liability (asset) (10,366)$       (44,302)$       1,698,193$    (2,158,428)$   (3,809,788)$   

SDSTA's covered employer payroll 8,995,993$    9,596,007$    9,256,007$    9,042,866$    8,888,749$    

SDSTA's proportionate 

share of the net pension liability 

(asset) as a percentageof its 

covered-employee payroll 0.12% 0.46% 18.35% 23.87% 42.86%

Plan fiduciary net position as a 

percentage of the total pension 

liability (asset) 100.02% 100.10% 96.89% 104.10% 107.30%

*  The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the measurement date of the collective net pension 

liability (asset) which is 6/30 of previous fiscal year.  Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the SDSTA will present 

information for those years for which information is available.

SCHEDULE OF  PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)

South Dakota Retirement System

Last 10 Fiscal Years *

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31
Page 69 of 106



 

 

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required contribution 631,417$        554,398$      595,112$      573,626$      557,420$      

Contribtutions in relation to the 

contractually required contribution 631,417          554,398        595,112        573,626        557,420        

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                -$              -$              -$              -$              

SDSTA's covered-employee payroll 10,237,119$   8,995,993$   9,596,007$   9,256,007$   9,042,866$   

Contributions as a percentage of 

covered-employee payroll 6.17% 6.16% 6.20% 6.20% 6.16%

*  Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the SDSTA will present information for those years for which information is 

available.

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

South Dakota Retirement System

Last 10 Fiscal Years * 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

32
Page 70 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY 

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) and 

Schedule of the SDSTA Contributions 

 

Changes of benefit terms: 

 

No significant changes. 

 

Changes of assumptions: 

 

Legislation enacted in 2017 modified the SDRS COLA.  For COLAs first applicable in 2018, the SDRS COLA will 

equal the percentage increase in the most recent third calendar quarter CPI-W over the prior year, no less than 0.5% 

and no greater than 3.5%.  However, if the Fair Value Funded Ratio (FVFR) assuming the long-term COLA is equal 

to the baseline COLA assumption (currently 2.25%) is less than 100%, the maximum COLA payable will be limited 

to the increase that if assumed on a long-term basis, results in a FVFR equal to or exceeding 100%.  That condition 

existed as of June 30, 2017 and exists again this year as of June 30, 2018.  Future COLAs are assumed to equal the 

current restricted maximum COLA which was 1.89% as of June 30, 2017 and is 2.03% as of June 30, 2018.  

 

The changes in actuarial assumptions increased the Actuarial Accrued Liability by 1.5% of the Actuarial Accrued 

Liability based on the 1.89% COLA, reflecting the current and assumed future restricted maximum COLA of 

2.03%. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33
Page 71 of 106



 

 

     SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72 of 106



 

 

SOUTH DAKOTA SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF OPERATING EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Personal Services

Employee Salaries 9,195,623  $                

Employee Benefits 5,742,710                     

Total Personal Services 14,938,333                   

Travel

Meals and Lodging 57,307                          

Auto and Fleet Services 52,203                          

Air - Commercial and Charter 65,371                          

Incidentals to Travel 5,076                            

Non-Employee Travel 31,111                          

Meals (Not Overnight) 32                                 

Total Travel 211,100                        

Contractual Services

Equipment Rental 181,990                        

Contractual - Other 2,512,850                     

Insurance 427,262                        

Lobbying 215,000                        

Computer Services 306,015                        

Telecommunications 54,843                          

Monitoring and Programming 57,303                          

Legal Consultant 77,023                          

Training 35,142                          

Consultant Fees - Accounting and Auditing 11,911                          

Promotion and Advancement 32,134                          

Dues and Memberships 4,977                            

Utilities 2,052,630                     

Maintenance and Repairs 235,977                        

Total Contractual Services 6,205,057                     

Supplies, Materials and Other Operating Expenses

Maintenance and Repairs 1,505,316                     

Other Supplies and Equipment 3,377,123                     

Other Expenses 5,742                            

Office Supplies and Equipment 25,900                          

Licenses and Permits 43,085                          

Workshop and Registration Fees 27,298                          

Postage 4,286                            

Bank Charges 1,289                            

Total Supplies, Materials and Other Operating Expenses 4,990,039                     

Depreciation Expense 1,930,894                     

Total Operating Expenses 28,275,423  $              

 
 

 

 

 

34
Page 73 of 106



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 74 of 106



2019 SDSTA Project Plan
Updated - 11/25/2019

1/6 1/13 1/20 1/27 2/3 2/10 2/17 2/24 3/2 3/9 3/16 3/23 3/30 4/6 4/13 4/20 4/27 5/4 5/11 5/18 5/25 6/1 6/8 6/15 6/22 6/29

Project Areas Tasks
Total Project 

Hours
1 Project Planning Meeting 40

Advance Request List
Fieldwork
Deliverable Preparation and Review
Deliver Final Report

2 Project Planning Meeting 20
Advance Request List
Fieldwork
Deliverable Preparation and Review
Deliver Final Report

3 Project Planning Meeting 20
Advance Request List
Fieldwork
Deliverable Preparation and Review
Deliver Final Report

4 Project Planning Meeting 20
Advance Request List
Fieldwork
Deliverable Preparation and Review
Deliver Final Report

5 Project Planning Meeting 30
Advance Request List
Fieldwork
Deliverable Preparation and Review
Deliver Final Report

6 Project Planning Meeting 20
Advance Request List
Fieldwork
Deliverable Preparation and Review
Deliver Final Report

7 Project Planning Meeting 30
Advance Request List
Fieldwork
Deliverable Preparation and Review
Deliver Final Report

Fieldwork

Fieldwork

Fieldwork

Q1 2020 Q2 2020
Weeks Weeks

Fieldwork

Fieldwork

Financial Controls & 
Reporting

Human Resources and 
Payroll

Information 
Technology

Governance

Cash Receipts/AR

Disbursements/AP

Electronic Funds 
Transfers

Fieldwork

Fieldwork

Page 75 of 106



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 76 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 08 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Financial Report—Mr. Mike Headley 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Motion to accept the Financial Report as presented. 

Financial Report and Summaries for November 2019 will be submitted at the December 12 Board 
Meeting. 

 

Page 77 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 78 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 09 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Executive Director’s Report—Mr. Mike Headley 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Motion to accept the Executive Director’s Report as presented.   

The Executive Director’s Report includes the following: 

9A.  Declarations of surplus (2)—Fork Lift and Dodge Truck. 

9B.  SDSTA quarterly update—informational. 

9C.  E&O update—E&O Director Debra Wolf, presentation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 79 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 80 of 106



 

Sanford Underground Research Facility         

  

1 

 

 

 

 
630 E. Summit St. Lead, SD 57754 

 

 

DECLARATION OF SURPLUS PROPERTY 
 

 
The South Dakota Science and Technology Authority (SDSTA) owns a fork lift Asset No.: FL-RSS06-
01, SN:TW1255152263 and a battery pack/charger Asset No.: BT-RSS06-014, SN: H29887. The 
equipment was given to SDSTA by Triple K Tire in 2009 and used in the Warehouse. The equipment is 
unable to be updated to meet standards and is no longer being used due to safety issues. SDSTA wishes to 
surplus the assets. The fork lift and battery/charger will be recycled. 
  
Having no further use for this property, I hereby declare the fork lift and battery surplus property.  
 
Dated at Lead, South Dakota this 1st day of November, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Mike Headley 
SDSTA Executive Director 
  

Page 81 of 106

mdknight
Mike Headley



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 82 of 106



 

Sanford Underground Research Facility         

  

1 

 

 

 

 
630 E. Summit St. Lead, SD 57754 

 

 

DECLARATION OF SURPLUS PROPERTY 
 

 
The South Dakota Science and Technology Authority (SDSTA) owns a Dodge Ram 3500 truck SN: 
3B6MF36541M279203, mileage 60,952. The truck’s transmission has been rebuilt several times as 
well as a new alternator, radiator and tire replacements. Due to the frequent repair rate and safety 
concerns, it has been removed from the asset list. 
 
It is not cost effective to maintain the truck in good running condition and SDSTA wishes to surplus 
the asset. The Dodge truck will be sold for scrap metal. 
  
Having no further use for this property, I hereby declare the Dodge truck surplus property.  
 
Dated at Lead, South Dakota this 21st day of November, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Mike Headley 
SDSTA Executive Director 
  

Page 83 of 106

mdknight
Mike Headley



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 84 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority Agenda Item: 10 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 

Lobbyist Registration—Mr. Tim Engel 

Recommended Action:  
Motion to designate Mr. Mike Headley, Mr. Ron Wheeler, Mr. Tim Engel and Mr. Doug Abraham as lobbyists 
for the SDSTA for the 2020 Legislative Session.   

Discussion: 

Ms. Mandy Knight shall contact the State of South Dakota early January and request lobbyist badges for 
Mr. Mike Headley, Mr. Ron Wheeler, Mr. Tim Engel and Mr. Doug Abraham for the 2020 Legislative 
Session.  

Page 85 of 106



Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 86 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 11 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Executive Session—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Motion to enter executive session to discuss personnel matters and to consult with legal counsel 
concerning contractual and legal matters.   

Meeting closed to public during executive session.  

See recommended motion below.

Page 87 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 88 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 12 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Report from Executive Session—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
“The board consulted with legal counsel concerning contractual and legal matters. No action was 
taken.” 
 OR 
 
…as discussed and stated otherwise   

See recommended motion below. 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 89 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 90 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority Agenda Item: 13 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 

SDSTA Policies and Procedures—Mr. Mike Headley 

Recommended Action:  
Motion to approve the updated Inclement Weather and Record Retention Policies, as presented. 

Attached are the following updated SDSTA Policies reviewed by legal counsel and recommended for 
approval: 

• Inclement Weather Policy (updated)
• Record Retention Policy (updated)

Page 91 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 92 of 106



INCLEMENT WEATHER POLICY, updated 

 

The safety of South Dakota Science and Technology Authority (SDSTA) staff, science 
researchers, contractor personnel and visitors is the SDSTA’s top concern. This policy 
establishes the framework for the management of inclement weather events that could 
affect the continuity of Sanford Underground Research Facility (Sanford Lab) 
operations. 

During inclement weather events, travel to and from Sanford Lab must be minimized to 
reduce the risk of injury. In managing Sanford Lab’s response to inclement weather 
events, the Executive Director and Laboratory Director is authorized to close, delay 
opening and/or implement a liberal leave policy as necessary to protect SDSTA staff 
and the facility. Sanford Lab will be staffed only with essential personnel to maintain and 
monitor the facilities and selected science systems that, if not maintained and 
monitored, may cause the cessation of normal activities for an extended period of time. 

Science researcher and visitor access to the facility will not be allowed during a Sanford 
Lab closure, except for experiment emergencies or to resupply critical consumables to 
maintain science experiments in a safe configuration. 

A reasonable number of inclement weather days per fiscal year will be budgeted as 
allowable under federal procurement guidelines. As funds are available, essential full-
time hourly staff members working during the closure will receive pay in addition to their 
hourly rate as determined from time to time by the executive Executive dDirector in 
addition to their hourly rate for both straight time and overtime hours worked. Non-
essential full-time hourly staff members not allowed on-site will be compensated for their 
normal shift during a closure. Salaried full-time staff members, including those who must 
work during a closure, will receive their regular compensation. 

During a closure, salaried-full-time staff members who are able to telecommute from an 
off-site location to perform their work duties are encouraged to do so. 

Page 93 of 106



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 94 of 106



RECORDS RETENTION POLICY, updated 

To comply with federal, state and contractual obligations, the South Dakota Science and 
Technology Authority (SDSTA) must retain administrative, environmental, safety and 
health records. Records will be retained according to the following timetable: 

Administrative 
Accident report/claims (settled cases) 10 Years 

Accounts payable ledgers and schedules 10 Years 

Accounts receivable ledgers and schedules 10 Years 

Audit reports Permanently 

Bank reconciliations 2 Years 

Bank statements  3 Years 

Cash books Permanently 

Checks (canceled i.e: taxes, purchases of property, special 
contracts, etc.) 

10 Years 

Contracts 10 Years 

Correspondence (Legal and important matters) Permanently 

Deeds, mortgagees and bills of sales Permanently 

Depreciation schedules Permanently 

Employment applications 5 Years 

Employee time cardstimesheets 10 Years 

Financial statements (year-end) Permanently 

Foreign Nationals IDs—Badged Users and Contractors 7 Years after end of 
fiscal year 

Garnishments 10 Years 

Government-furnished property (equipment over $5K) 3 Years 

Expired insurance policies 7 Years 

Indirect cost rate proposals 3 years from date of 
submission 

Insurance records, current accident reports, claims policies, Permanently 

Page 95 of 106



etc. 

Inventories of products, materials, supplies 10 Years 

iInvoices (to customers, from vendors) 10 Years 

Journals Permanently 

Minute books of directors Permanently 

Payroll records and summaries 10 Years 

Personnel files (terminated) 10 Years 

Petty cash vouchers 3 Years 

Property appraisals by outside appraisers Permanently 

Purchase orders 3 Years 

Receiving sheets 3 Years 

Retirement and pension records Permanently 

Requisitions 3 Years 

Scrap and salvage records 10 Years 

Visitor daily check-in logs and monthly registration logs 5 Years 

Voucher register and schedules 10 Years 

  

Page 96 of 106



Environmental 
All other permits Permanent 

Biological Reports (WET and Stream) [NPDES Permit 
0000043] 

5 Years 

Clean Air Act emission test results [40 CFR 61.33] 4 Years 

Clean Air Act monitoring data, performance tests [40 CFR 
61.14] 

4 Years 

Clean Air Act Permits [40 CFR 70.6 9a)(3)] 5 Years 

EPA underground injection permits [40 CFR 144.12] Keep Retain until 
closed 

EPCRA Tier II Reports [40 CFR 370.25 (d)] 4 Years 

Hazardous waste contingency Plan [40 CFR 262.40] 4 Years 

Hazardous waste exception reports [40 CFR 262.40] 4 Years 

Hazardous waste inspection results [40 CFR 262.40] 4 Years 

Hazardous waste manifests [40 CFR 262.40] 4 Years 

Hazardous waste training records [40 CFR 262.40] 4 Years 

LDR waste analysis/document [40 CFR 370.25 (d)] 5 Years 

NPDES monitoring records (DMRs) [40 CFR 122.41] 4 Years 

NPDES permit application records [40 CFR 122.21] 5 Years 

NPDES storm water records [40 CFR 216.29] 5 Years 

PCB manifests and logs (after final disposal) [40 CFR 
761.209]   

4 Years 

SPCC plans and inspection records [40 CFR 112.7] 4 Years 

Storm water construction permits [by permit] Retain until closed 

Waste test results [40 CFR 262.40] 4 Years 

WWTP monitoring data and calibration check [40 CFR 
61.14] 

4 Years 

Page 97 of 106



Safety and Health 
Employee Training Records Permanently 

Industrial Hygiene (IH) Permanently 

Job Hazard Analysis (JHA) Permanently 

Medical Records (Workers Compensation) Permanently 
(30 years after 
employment 
termination) 

OSHA 300 Logs 5 Years 

Safe Work Permits 

Hot Work, Confined Space, Energized Electrical 

2 Years 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) Permanently 

Underground Access Acknowledgment of Risk and 
Agreement Not to Sue Waivers 

10 YearsPermanently 

Page 98 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 14 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Confirm date and time of next meeting—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Informational.   

The next board meeting will be held on Thursday, March 19, beginning at 8:00 AM (Mountain Time).  

 

2020 Regular Quarterly Board Schedule 

March 19, 2020 08:00 am (MT) 

June 25, 2020 08:00 am (MT), annual 

September 17, 2020 08:00 am (MT) 

December 17, 2020 09:00 am (MT), lunch provided 

 

South Dakota Science and Technology Authority 
Sanford Underground Research Facility 
Education & Outreach Building (large conference room) 
630 E. Summit Street, 
Lead SD 57754  
Questions? Contact Mandy Knight, mknight@sanfordlab.org 
Direct Line: 605.722.4022, Cell: 605.641.0475

Page 99 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 100 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 15 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Public Comments—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
   

Ask if any public comment request forms were submitted from the audience. 

  

 

  

 

Page 101 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 102 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 16 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Board Comments—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  

1. Dr. Ani Aprahamian 

2. Mr. Dana Dykhouse, Vice-Chairperson 
3. Ms. Pat Lebrun, Secretary-Treasurer 

4. Mr. Roger Musick 
5. Mr. Ron Wheeler, Vice-Chairperson 

6. Dr. Robert Wilson 
7. Dr. Jim Rankin, Ex-officio member 

8. Mr. Casey Peterson, Chairperson 

Page 103 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 104 of 106



South Dakota Science and Technology Authority     Agenda Item: 17 
December 12, 2019 Board Meeting 
 
Adjourn—Chairperson Casey Peterson 

 

 
Recommended Action:  
Motion to adjourn. 

See recommended motion below.

Page 105 of 106



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally 

blank 

Page 106 of 106


	SDSTA eboard Packet—Dec 12, 2019
	Item 01. Call to Order
	Item 02. Approve Agenda
	2_Agenda SDSTA BoD Mtg Dec 12 2019 v2

	Item 03. Approve Minutes
	3A_SDSTA Board Minutes 2019-0919 final draft
	3B_SDSTA Board Minutes 2019-1031 final draft

	Item 04. Conflict of Interest Disclosure
	Item 05. Grant Waiver or Decline to Grant Waiver
	Item 06. Scoping Study for Potential STEM Inst Update
	Item 07. Audit Committee Report
	7A_2019-0630 Audit Report Ended
	7B_Project Plan Draft 11.25.2019

	Item 08. Financial Report
	Item 09. ED Report
	9A1_Declaration of Surplus warehouse fork lift 2019-1101
	9A2_Declaration of Surplus Dodge Truck 2019-1121

	Item 10. Registration of lobbyists
	Item 11. Executive Session
	Item 12. Report from Executive Session
	Item 13. SDSTA Policies and Procedures Approval
	13A_Inclement Weather Policy updated for approval Dec 12
	13B_Record Retention Policy updated for approval Dec 12

	Item 14. Date and Time of Next Mtg
	Item 15. Public Comments
	Item 16. Board Comments
	Item 17. Adjourn




